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From: Gregory Gelembiuk
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Agenda item #17 - regarding the budgets for OIM and PCOB
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 1:13:31 PM

You don't often get email from gwgelemb@wisc.edu. Learn why this is important

Dear Finance Committee members,

Below is a copy of the public comment I plan to provide for agenda item #17.
Specifically, these comments pertain to the budget for the Office of the Independent
Monitor and the Police Civilian Oversight Board.

I am emailing you a copy of these comments because it is often easier to absorb written
information than information that is spoken rapidly.

Sincerely,

Dr. Gregory Gelembiuk
_________________________________________

I am speaking to advocate for budget amendments to restore funding to the Office of the
Independent Monitor and the Police Civilian Oversight Board.

I’ll note that I’d been selected as the data analyst for the Office of the Independent
Monitor and was in the midst of being hired when they were ordered not to fill the
position, a month ago. Last week the Executive Operating Budget was released stating
that the position was being eliminated and the funds redirected because it was vacant.
Though I will note that it was only vacant because the hiring has been blocked. After
negotiations, I have now been hired until the end of the year as an hourly contractor with
no benefits, after which there are no funds to retain me.

I had formulated and provided a detailed data analysis plan, with my first priority being
analyses to examine the sources of the extreme racial disparities in policing outcomes in
Madison. The OIM and PCOB, with the assistance of the data analyst, has the best
chance of anybody to get to the bottom of racial disparities in arrests and police
encounters in Madison. In Madison in 2023, a Black individual was over 8 times more
likely to be arrested at least once than a white individual. Benchmarked to population
numbers, a disorderly conduct charge was over 13 times more likely to be against
someone who was Black than someone who was white. I will add that it has been shown
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that the presence of a civilian police oversight agency with a broad scope of authority, as
in Madison, reduces racial disparities in disorderly conduct arrests rates, a type of arrest
for which officers have considerable discretion, and racial disparities in police killings.

I began working on police reform given three fatal officer-involved shootings within three
blocks of my apartment, starting with unarmed Paulie Heenan in 2012, followed by
unarmed Tony Robinson in 2015, followed by Michael Schumacher, who was carrying a
lake weed rake, in 2016. Producing better policing outcomes and reducing negative
impacts on communities of color is deeply important to me. I contributed to the
recommendations and orders generated by The President’s Workgroup on Police and
Community Relations, and I believe that changes in MPD policy and training that
resulted from that has helped reduce the number of fatal officer-involved shootings in
Madison. I subsequently was appointed to the MPD Policy and Procedure Review Ad Hoc
Committee, and I wrote the large majority of that committee’s final report, seeking to
faithfully reflect the decisions and deliberations of that committee.

Alders who have worked with me know that I have a track record of getting things done.
What matters to me is the bottom line of what’s been accomplished. What may well be
less known is that I also have an established track record of successfully helping turn
around organizations having difficulty. And I have quite a lot of managerial experience. I
had chosen to apply for the data analyst position in part because I knew that the civilian
police oversight bodies had experienced some growing pains, and I believed that I could
help. I’ve been thinking about mechanisms to improve organizational functioning and
accountability. And I have a concrete plan for solving some issues in the current
nomination and appointment process, based on what has been shown to work well
elsewhere. I will add that the OIM and PCOB have had some important achievements,
but these have been under-recognized and not publicized. Finally, it’s unfortunate that
massive budget cuts or elimination were proposed at the exact point when the office
was about to reach full staffing and was about to start taking complaints, performing
analyses, and issuing recommendations.

More information about any of the above is available upon request.
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From: KJ LeFave
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Agenda Item #17 Opposition
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 10:41:46 AM

You don't often get email from kjlef2001@gmail.com. Learn why this is important

Dear Alders,

I am writing to request an operating budget amendment to restore full funding for the Office of the
Independent Monitor (OIM) and Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB). These police oversight
bodies are crucial to the future wellbeing of our city, and should be treated equivalently to other city
departments, rather than being singled out for draconian cuts or elimination. 

Did you know that Madison’s PCOB and OIM are considered among the most cutting-edge,
independent, and empowered civilian police oversight agencies in the nation, looked to by other
cities as a model? Did you know that they have been lauded by Barack Obama? As the saying goes,
sometimes people don’t recognize the prophet in their own backyard.

Settlements from lawsuits against the Madison Police Department since 2015 have cost over
$12,500,000. This has caused commensurate large increases in the cost of insurance, a huge burden
on city taxpayers. The OIM and PCOB protect the city, reducing the likelihood of civil rights violations
and costly lawsuits against MPD and its officers.

Fatal police shootings have dropped in Madison (and especially police shootings of unarmed people)
and a lot of it is because police know they will be held accountable. Fatal police shootings, which had
been occurring at the rate of 1-2 per year and were on an increasing trend, dropped after 2016. It
was a direct result of the community protests, changes in policy pushed through by those
mobilizations, and a spotlight on MPD, culminating in the creation of the OIM and PCOB to provide
enduring accountability.

Since they were created in 2020, the PCOB and OIM have spent only $411,000. With that relatively
small expenditure, there have been major accomplishments, even if there were at times growing
pains in booting up this whole new city department. An Independent Monitor was hired after
recruiting nationally. A program manager was hired and is now engaged in outreach to community
organizations and the community at large. A data analyst was chosen and was in the process of
being hired until the Mayor ordered city staff not to permit the individual to be hired. A detailed
data analysis plan was developed, focusing on racial disparities in policing outcomes, data-driven
identification of officers at risk of misconduct or other adverse outcomes, and detection and
disruption of networks of officer misconduct. A process was developed for handling and
investigating complaints filed against MPD, and a physical complaint form had recently been
completed. A memorandum of understanding was negotiated with MPD, for data and records
access. Extensive training had been obtained from the National Association for Civilian Oversight of
Law Enforcement (NACOLE) and the Civilian Office of Police Accountability in Chicago, including on
complaint investigation. The OIM and members of the PCOB have attended NACOLE conferences
and networked with members of civilian police oversight bodies in cities across the U.S. Policies were
crafted to govern the functioning of the PCOB and a subcommittee structure developed, for efficient
completion of tasks. Community listening sessions were held in neighborhoods across Madison,
resulting in a report summarizing insights and emergent themes arising from a wide variety of
powerful first-hand accounts of encounters with law enforcement officers voiced by the civilians that
experienced them. And the list of achievements goes on.

Alders should recognize the value that the OIM and PCOB bring to people in the community,
particularly for people who are not comfortable filing complaints with the police department. It is
also worth noting that complaints to MPD that are investigated internally are rarely upheld, since
officers are basically investigating themselves. A large segment of the population of Madison,
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particularly in more marginalized communities, consist of people who don't trust the police
department, are alienated from it, and won't cooperate with it. The OIM and PCOB provides the
mechanism needed to provide a bridge to all those residents, and to restore trust. The needs of this
large segment of the community are often ignored by the segments of the community that are more
privileged. This city agency is very unusual, in that it was deliberately designed to represent and
empower Madison’s most marginalized communities.

Madison still has one of the highest racial disparities in policing outcomes (arrest and charging rates,
etc.) among U.S. cities. In Madison in 2023, a Black individual was over 8 times more likely to be
arrested at least once than a white individual. Benchmarked to population numbers, a disorderly
conduct charge was over 13 times more likely to be against someone who was Black than someone
who was white. It is crucial to better understand the sources of these disparities so they can be
addressed, and this is a key role of the OIM data analyst. Studies have clearly shown that the
presence of a civilian police oversight agency with a broad scope of authority (investigative
authority, etc.), as in Madison, reduces racial disparities in disorderly conduct arrests rates (i.e., a
type of arrest for which officers have considerable discretion) and racial disparities in police killings
of civilians.

OIR, the firm that did a top-to-bottom review of MPD, made creation of a civilian police monitor and
oversight board a cornerstone of their recommendations, with one of the oversight entities' most
critical roles being "Ensuring that the adopted findings and recommendations of the current review
process be implemented and sustained." As the MPD Policy & Procedure Review Ad Hoc Committee
report states: "the Committee believes that creating an independent monitor and civilian review
body is so critical, both in its own right and to ensure successful implementation of all of the other
recommendations the Committee is making, that we have moved this up as our first
recommendation, and we pulled it out and forwarded it separately to the Common Council and
Mayor".  Only a small fraction of those recommendations have been enacted so far, and this won't
change without the ongoing analysis and advocacy of the OIM and PCOB.

But at this point, just as the OIM is about to start fully functioning, just as it is about to start receiving
complaints, just as it is about to start performing data analysis to determine if there is evidence of
MPD officers engaging in racially discriminatory policing, the Mayor is seeking to defund it and
potentially kill it. And has intervened to prevent the chosen data analyst from being hired while
subsequently declaring that the vacant position justifies slashing the agency’s budget.

Most fundamentally, this is a deeply moral issue, concerning the wellbeing of members of
marginalized communities. I fervently hope that you choose to stand on the right side of history.

Sincerely, 

KJ LeFave (she/her) 
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From: Robin Lowney Lankton
To: Finance Committee
Subject: City of Madison budget - PHMDC budget
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 10:41:51 AM

You don't often get email from rllankton@gmail.com. Learn why this is important

Dear Finance Committee -

I am writing to you as a member of the Board of Health for Madison and Dane County. When
the Budget for 2025 was presented, I was the 1st Vice Chair of the Board of Health and Chair
of the Budget Committee.

First, I would like to express my gratitude for your efforts in navigating a challenging budget
season. I am submitting testimony regarding 85264, specifically expressing my deep concern
about the proposed cuts to Safe Communities.

Safe Communities is a nonprofit organization dedicated to saving lives, preventing injuries,
and enhancing community safety through partnerships with individuals and organizations.
Proposing cuts to Safe Communities in the Public Heth Madison Dane County budget comes
at a time when injury prevention is among the top four community health needs for Madison
and Dane County in the most recent Community Health Needs Assessment. This is short
sighted and out of alignment with the most pressing needs in our community. 

The Board of Health has strategically focused on PHMDC's role as a convener, provider of
technical assistance, and data analyst. We have intentionally avoided providing direct services,
particularly when community organizations with members who have lived experience are
better equipped to build relationships and provide services to community members who may
distrust government organizations.

Nonprofit partners are often best positioned to serve community members directly and
maintain trust. Asking organizations that serve the most vulnerable in our community to bear
the brunt of this budget cuts is not an equitable approach to resolving this budget crisis.

I strongly oppose any cuts to nonprofits such as Safe Communities, Access Community Health
Centers, and Focused Interruption Coalition. I urge you to reconsider the proposed budget and
explore alternatives, such as leaving staff positions vacant at PHMDC or seeking overall
efficiencies in the City budget.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Robin Lowney Lankton
rllankton@gmail.com 
310-254-4125 
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From: Cosette Couts
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Comment on 2025 Executive Operating Budget
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 12:35:35 PM

You don't often get email from cosette@justdane.org. Learn why this is important

 Dear Finance Committee Members,

    My name is Cosette Coutts, and I am a homeowner in District 6 and a Policy and Advocacy
Intern at JustDane. I am writing on behalf of JustDane in response to the budget cuts made to
the analyst position within the Office of the Independent Monitor (OIM) if the referendum
passes in November, and the complete cut to the Independent Monitor (IM) and the Police
Community Oversight Board (PCOB) if it doesn’t pass, both of which jeopardize essential
community oversight and accountability. JustDane supports the continued full funding of the
OIM and PCOB, as any cuts to it will directly undermine the function of both.

In 2015, the Ad Hoc Committee was created to address the growing divide between the
community and the Madison Police Department (MPD) caused by the police shooting of
unarmed civilians. For five years, the Committee analyzed other Civilian Review Board
(CRB) and Independent Monitor (IM) models and, using their research, carefully crafted the
Office of the Independent Monitor (OIM) and the Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB)
which was passed in 2020. The OIM is managed by a full-time Independent Monitor (IM), and
the IM is supervised by the Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB). The IM and PCOB
function to increase transparency and accountability as well as minimize the risks of avoidable
uses of police force, especially deadly force.

Transparency in policing and in the administration of justice is essential to build trust
between residents and law enforcement. The PCOB increases civilian oversight of law
enforcement by ensuring that the MPD responds to the needs and concerns of all members of
the community and overseeing OIM investigations into police misconduct to ensure they are
conducted fairly. When transparency exists, police and all players within the criminal-legal
system are held accountable, and accountability contributes to this trust building. If individuals
do not have trust in the system or feel as if they have no protection against misconduct, they
will turn to the system less for support in times of need, which was starkly illustrated
following the police shootings of unarmed civilians, Paul Heenan and Tony Robinson, where
community members expressed fear in calling the police even for minor disturbances.

In addition, the financial implication of not funding proper oversight is significant.
Previous deaths such as Heenan and Robinson’s have led to millions of dollars in settlements
for the city. Between three cases - Heenan, Robinson, and a recent settlement for the excessive
force used against David Clash-Miller – the city has paid $6.75 million dollars in settlements.
The settlement money from these three cases alone could fund the IM at $450,000 per year for
15 years. The IM and PCOB prevent cases like this from ever occurring in the first place and
bridge the divide that exists between Madison communities and the MPD.

It is important to note that the Community Support Services budget within the MPD
received $800,000 more than their requested funding. A fraction of that would allow the IM to
remain in place with full funding and allow for the expansion of the Community Support
Services within the MPD.

Two years into its operation, the IM and the PCOB will be eliminated if the referendum
fails. If this is the case, the PCOB will no longer function to hear civilian complaints about
police misconduct, and any form of police misconduct will be reviewed internally or by the
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Police and Fire Commission (PFC). This will be inefficient, as the PFC can’t operate the same
because they do not have the authority to investigate as the IM does. In addition, misconduct
reviewed by the PFC is exposed to bias due to members being appointed by the mayor and
often being former police officers themselves.

The choice to eliminate these programs demonstrates a lack of regard for police
accountability and a willingness to let the voices of individuals, often from marginalized
communities, go unheard. Not only do the OIM and PCOB face budget cuts, but the mayor
plans to cut the Police and Fire Commission’s funding for legal services that help aggrieved
individuals who do not have access to legal representation. Therefore, within the only
remaining body to hear the complaints of community members, there will be increased
barriers for marginalized individuals, making the role of the IM and PCOB even more
necessary.

If the PCOB and IM are stripped away, it will not return. Therefore, we propose that the
Mayor’s Office continue to fund the OIM and PCOB. It is a critical investment in the safety
and trust of the Madison community, and it is necessary to reduce racial disparities.

Sincerely,

Cosette Coutts
Policy and Advocacy Intern
JustDane
cosette@justdane.org
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From: Gregory Gelembiuk
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Correlation, causation, and a bit of local history
Date: Wednesday, October 16, 2024 1:43:21 AM
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You don't often get email from gwgelemb@wisc.edu. Learn why this is important

Dear Finance Committee members,

It occurred to me that most current members of the Finance Committee were not in elected
office at the time that Tony Robinson was killed, at which point the City of Madison began a
concerted police reform process. So I thought it might be helpful to review a bit of history.

As I am sure all of you are aware, the killing of Tony Robinson sparked massive protests in
Madison. Up until that point, fatal MPD officer involved shootings had been on a clear and
statistically significant increasing trend for two decades, having reached 1-2 a year. Meanwhile,
data showed that the rate at which MPD Internal Affairs sustained civilian complaints was very
abnormally low, especially for excessive force complaints.

City government responded to the Tony Robinson protests in a couple important ways. One was
the creation of the MPD Policy & Procedure Review Ad Hoc Committee in 2015. Another was the
creation of the Common Council Organizational Committee Subcommittee on Police and
Community Relations in 2016. The latter was envisioned as a means to make recommendations
that could be enacted more quickly, while awaiting the completion of the work of the former.
That resulted in this report in early 2017, which included a series of Council orders to MPD. That
included an order to change MPD use of force policy to include a duty to preserve life, including
the lives of those of those being placed in police custody. Another order was to issue a Standard
Operating Procedure (SOP) that explicitly details the goals, tactics, policies, and procedures to
deal with an individual in an altered mental state. Up to this point, MPD had no such SOP, and
almost all of the people being killed in officer-involved shootings in Madison were people in an
altered mental state (altered due to mental illness or substances). Moreover, it was stated in the
order that this SOP should incorporate Fyfe’s Principles for dealing with people in an altered
mental state (Jim Fyfe was a reformer in NYPD who developed these principles to reduce the
rate of officer-involved deaths). I will mention that I had proposed both of these measures to the
committee based on my studies of what empirically appeared to work to reduce officer-involved
homicides. Both of these orders and others led to changes in MPD SOPs and training. The
completion of the OIR top-to-bottom review of MPD in 2017 led to many further
recommendations, and MPD enacted some further reforms. And yet more reforms began to
occur upon completion of the MPD Policy & Procedure Review Ad Hoc Committee final report in
2019. And of course, that report led to the creation of the PCOB in 2020.

Such reforms are actually pretty common in U.S. cities following community protests and
pushback after high-profile officer-involved killings. Analysts have long noted huge variation in
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the rate of officer-involved shootings across U.S. cities. And that community intolerance of high
rates of officer-involved killings (i.e., intolerance manifesting in protests and other forms of
pushback) appeared to lead to their reduction (and that this was more common in urban areas,
especially more liberal ones).

The following excerpts are from a 2020 article by Samuel Sinyangwe in FiveThirtyEight.com:

While the nationwide total of people killed by police nationwide has remained steady, the
numbers have dropped significantly in America’s largest cities, likely due to reforms to
use-of-force policies implemented in the wake of high-profile deaths. Those decreases,
however, have been offset by increases in police killings in more suburban and rural
areas. It seems that solutions that can reduce police killings exist, in other words — the
issue may be whether an area has the political will to enact them.

Indeed, looking only at the 30 most populous cities in the country, you see a substantial
decrease in the number of people killed by police in recent years. Police departments in
America’s 30 largest cities killed 30 percent fewer people in 2019 than in 2013, the year
before the Ferguson protests began, according to the Mapping Police Violence database.
Similarly, The Washington Post’s database shows 17 percent fewer killings by these
agencies in 2019 compared to 2015, the earliest year it tracks.

This data isn’t perfect. The databases have slightly different methodologies for collecting
and including police killings. And not everyone who’s shot winds up dying, which means
some people who are shot by police don’t end up in one of these tracking projects. So to
better test and understand the progress made in these big cities, I compiled an expanded
database of all fatal and nonfatal police shootings by these departments, which expands
our view of any changes in police behavior. Based on data published on police
departments’ websites and reported in local media databases, I found data covering
police shootings in 2013-2019 for 23 of the 30 departments. An analysis of this data
shows that police shootings in these departments dropped 37 percent from 2013 to
2019….

Similarly, arrest rates have declined in major cities at a faster pace than arrest rates in
suburban and rural areas. Fewer arrests means fewer police encounters that could
escalate to deadly force — police are substantially more likely to use force when making
an arrest than in other interactions with the public — so falling arrest numbers could have
a marked effect on police killings. Comparing police shootings data to the arrests data
each department reported in the FBI Uniform Crime Report shows that departments that
reported larger reductions in arrests from 2013-20183 also reported larger reductions in
police shootings. Specifically, cities that reduced police shootings also made 35 percent
fewer arrests in 2018 than 2013, compared to only a 4 percent drop in arrests in cities
where police shootings increased or remained constant. These declining arrest rates
have been attributed, in part, to reforms reducing enforcement of low-level offenses such
as marijuana possession, disorderly conduct, loitering and prostitution.



Other reforms may be making a difference as well. Police shootings dropped in
Philadelphia, San Francisco and Baltimore after the cities began reforming their use-of-
force policies to match recommendations from the Department of Justice. In Chicago,
police shootings dropped following protests over the shooting of Laquan McDonald and
fell further after the city adopted more restrictive use-of-force policies and a new police
accountability system. Denver also adopted more restrictive use-of-force policies in
2017, requiring de-escalation as an alternative to force. Los Angeles police shootings
reportedly declined to the lowest number in 30 years in 2019, which officials attribute to
new policies requiring officers to use de-escalation and alternatives to deadly force.
Shootings dropped precipitously in Phoenix a year after public scrutiny led the
department to evaluate its practices and implement changes to its use-of-force policy.
And, in response to local protests over the 2012 killing of James Harper, Dallas
implemented a range of policies to emphasize de-escalation, which local authorities
credit with producing a sustained decline in police shootings.

This suggests that reforms may be working in the places that have implemented them.
Many of these reforms were initiated in response to protests and public outcry over high-
profile deaths at the hands of police — most notably in Baltimore following the police
killing of Freddie Gray, in San Francisco following the killing of Mario Woods, and in
Chicago and Dallas following the deaths of Laquan McDonald and James Harper. This
suggests that protests and public pressure may have played an important role in
producing policy changes that reduced police shootings, at least in some cities.

A recent study in the Journal of Urban Economics (Travis Campbell, 2024) corroborates that
Black Lives Matter protests in a city substantially reduce its rate of officer-involved homicides:

How has Black Lives Matter (BLM) influenced police lethal force? An event study design
finds census places with early BLM protests experienced a 10% to 15% decrease in
police homicides from 2014 through 2019, around 200 fewer deaths. This decrease was
prominent when protests were large and frequent….

I examine how BLM protests have changed police behavior, focusing on lethal force. The
analysis leverages the occurrence of two major protest waves from 2014 to 2021: the
Mike Brown era (2014q3-2015q2) and the George Floyd era (2020q2-2021q4)….

BLM protests meaningfully reduced police-involved homicides. By comparing the change
in lethal force in cities with BLM protests during the Mike Brown era to cities without a
BLM protest until the George Floyd era, the event study estimates suggest these early
BLM protests reduced lethal force by around 13% (s.e.=4.66) over the five subsequent
years. This reduction is relative to the pre-protest mean of 0.51, which is the average
number of police killings per quarter in treated cities over the year preceding the first
protest. To put this number into perspective, if the model is correct, then BLM protests
were responsible for approximately 200 fewer people killed by the police from 2014 to
2019. The payoff for protesting is substantial; around 6 of every 1371 protests



corresponds with approximately one less person killed by the police during this period.
The police killed about one less person for every 2500 participants….

the impact of BLM protests on lethal force is not only immediate but is also becoming
stronger over the five subsequent years. The continuous administration of protests
explains this finding. As explained in Section 3, BLM protests were persistent. If a rally
occurred, then, on average, seven more occurred over the subsequent five years.

Figure A. Evolution of Impact of Black Lives Matter Protests on Police Homicides.

Here are excerpts from a 2020 study by Evelyn Skoy, in the journal Contemporary Economic
Policy, further corroborating the reduction of officer-involved fatalities in U.S. cities as a
consequence of BLM protests:

I find evidence that an additional protest in the preceding month leads to a decrease of
.225 fatal interactions between Blacks and police per 10 million Black population….

This paper focuses on the impact that protests have on fatal interactions with police in
subsequent months. Column 1 indicates that one additional protest in the previous
month corresponds to 2.2 fewer Black fatal encounters with police per 100 million Black
population in the current month. For context, this represents approximately a 2.7%
decrease from the mean Black fatalities in a month.



Figure B. The figure shows the total number of fatal interactions with police from 2010–2017.
Trend lines have been added to show the pretrend prior to the BLM movement and the post-
trend after the start of protests within the United States.

 

I recognize that this email is very long. Hopefully, some of you read through it and found it of
interest.

Sincerely,

Dr. Gregory Gelembiuk
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From: Madeline Doon
To: Finance Committee; All Alders
Subject: Finance Committee 10/14/2024 - Written Comment
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 4:07:59 PM

Some people who received this message don't often get email from doon.madeline@gmail.com. Learn why this is
important

Hello,

I urge you to amend the operating budget and fully fund the Office of the Independent Monitor
(OIM) and Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB). These vital oversight bodies, hard-won
victories of the 2020 protests, are essential for a just and equitable Madison.

The PCOB and OIM are national models for civilian oversight, even lauded by Barack
Obama. They protect our city by reducing civil rights violations and costly lawsuits against the
MPD, which have exceeded $12.5 million since 2015.

Despite their significant impact, these entities have operated efficiently, spending only
$411,000 since 2020. They've achieved remarkable progress in community outreach, data
analysis planning, complaint process development, and collaboration with MPD. 

The limitations in budget have made it challenging to make progress and it requires time to see
the results of this program. Seeing how some criticize these boards for not doing enough is
unfair to the fact that change takes time. The PCOB and OIM are critical to this change. Data
is critical to this change.

Defunding the OIM and PCOB undermines the voices of marginalized communities who often
distrust internal police investigations. These bodies provide a crucial bridge for those seeking
accountability and transparency.

Madison still faces stark racial disparities in policing. The OIM's data analysis is critical to
understanding and addressing these disparities, ultimately creating a safer and more just city
for all.

Please stand on the right side of history and ensure the continued success of the OIM and
PCOB.

Best,

Madeline Doon
Madison, WI 53718
doon.madeline@gmail.com
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From: Karen Craig
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Finance Committee: 10/14/2024 4:30 PM: agenda item #17
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 1:24:22 PM

You don't often get email from kcraig1224@gmail.com. Learn why this is important

Dear Finance Committee,
I am writing to request an operating budget amendment to restore full funding for the Office
of the Independent Monitor (OIM) and Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB). These police
oversight bodies are crucial to the future wellbeing of our city, and should be treated
equivalently to other city departments, rather than being singled out for draconian cuts or
elimination. 

The people of Madison deserve to have some say in how our police department will operate.
We have asked for this, and the police really should have to answer to the communities
they serve. Please don't take the small bit of progress we have made away. I know everything
in the budget is important, but I believe that funding this oversight of our own police
department will save lives. 

Thank you!
Karen Craig
-- 
Karen Craig
KCraig1224@gmail.com
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From: Amelia Hansen
To: All Alders
Cc: Finance Committee
Subject: Finance Committee: Oppose Agenda Item 17
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 5:44:15 PM

Some people who received this message don't often get email from amhansen97@gmail.com. Learn why this is
important

Dear Alders,

I am writing to request an operating budget amendment to restore full funding for the
Office of the Independent Monitor (OIM) and Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB).
These police oversight bodies are crucial to the future wellbeing of our city, and
should be treated equivalently to other city departments, rather than being singled out
for draconian cuts or elimination. 

Did you know that Madison’s PCOB and OIM are considered among the most cutting-
edge, independent, and empowered civilian police oversight agencies in the nation,
looked to by other cities as a model? Did you know that they have been lauded by
Barack Obama? As the saying goes, sometimes people don’t recognize the prophet
in their own backyard.

Settlements from lawsuits against the Madison Police Department since 2015 have
cost over $12,500,000. This has caused commensurate large increases in the cost of
insurance, a huge burden on city taxpayers. The OIM and PCOB protect the city,
reducing the likelihood of civil rights violations and costly lawsuits against MPD and
its officers.

Fatal police shootings have dropped in Madison (and especially police shootings of
unarmed people) and a lot of it is because police know they will be held accountable.
Fatal police shootings, which had been occurring at the rate of 1-2 per year and were
on an increasing trend, dropped after 2016. It was a direct result of the community
protests, changes in policy pushed through by those mobilizations, and a spotlight on
MPD, culminating in the creation of the OIM and PCOB to provide enduring
accountability.

Since they were created in 2020, the PCOB and OIM have spent only $411,000. With
that relatively small expenditure, there have been major accomplishments, even if
there were at times growing pains in booting up this whole new city department. An
Independent Monitor was hired after recruiting nationally. A program manager was
hired and is now engaged in outreach to community organizations and the community
at large. A data analyst was chosen and was in the process of being hired until the
Mayor ordered city staff not to permit the individual to be hired. A detailed data
analysis plan was developed, focusing on racial disparities in policing outcomes,
data-driven identification of officers at risk of misconduct or other adverse outcomes,
and detection and disruption of networks of officer misconduct. A process was
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developed for handling and investigating complaints filed against MPD, and a
physical complaint form had recently been completed. A memorandum of
understanding was negotiated with MPD, for data and records access. Extensive
training had been obtained from the National Association for Civilian Oversight of Law
Enforcement (NACOLE) and the Civilian Office of Police Accountability in Chicago,
including on complaint investigation. The OIM and members of the PCOB have
attended NACOLE conferences and networked with members of civilian police
oversight bodies in cities across the U.S. Policies were crafted to govern the
functioning of the PCOB and a subcommittee structure developed, for efficient
completion of tasks. Community listening sessions were held in neighborhoods
across Madison, resulting in a report summarizing insights and emergent themes
arising from a wide variety of powerful first-hand accounts of encounters with law
enforcement officers voiced by the civilians that experienced them. And the list of
achievements goes on.

Alders should recognize the value that the OIM and PCOB bring to people in the
community, particularly for people who are not comfortable filing complaints with the
police department. It is also worth noting that complaints to MPD that are investigated
internally are rarely upheld, since officers are basically investigating themselves. A
large segment of the population of Madison, particularly in more marginalized
communities, consist of people who don't trust the police department, are alienated
from it, and won't cooperate with it. The OIM and PCOB provides the mechanism
needed to provide a bridge to all those residents, and to restore trust. The needs of
this large segment of the community are often ignored by the segments of the
community that are more privileged. This city agency is very unusual, in that it was
deliberately designed to represent and empower Madison’s most marginalized
communities.

Madison still has one of the highest racial disparities in policing outcomes (arrest and
charging rates, etc.) among U.S. cities. In Madison in 2023, a Black individual was
over 8 times more likely to be arrested at least once than a white individual.
Benchmarked to population numbers, a disorderly conduct charge was over 13 times
more likely to be against someone who was Black than someone who was white. It is
crucial to better understand the sources of these disparities so they can be
addressed, and this is a key role of the OIM data analyst. Studies have clearly shown
that the presence of a civilian police oversight agency with a broad scope of authority
(investigative authority, etc.), as in Madison, reduces racial disparities in disorderly
conduct arrests rates (i.e., a type of arrest for which officers have considerable
discretion) and racial disparities in police killings of civilians.

OIR, the firm that did a top-to-bottom review of MPD, made creation of a civilian
police monitor and oversight board a cornerstone of their recommendations, with one
of the oversight entities' most critical roles being "Ensuring that the adopted findings
and recommendations of the current review process be implemented and sustained."
As the MPD Policy & Procedure Review Ad Hoc Committee report states: "the
Committee believes that creating an independent monitor and civilian review body is
so critical, both in its own right and to ensure successful implementation of all of the



other recommendations the Committee is making, that we have moved this up as our
first recommendation, and we pulled it out and forwarded it separately to the Common
Council and Mayor".  Only a small fraction of those recommendations have been
enacted so far, and this won't change without the ongoing analysis and advocacy of
the OIM and PCOB.

But at this point, just as the OIM is about to start fully functioning, just as it is about to
start receiving complaints, just as it is about to start performing data analysis to
determine if there is evidence of MPD officers engaging in racially discriminatory
policing, the Mayor is seeking to defund it and potentially kill it. And has intervened to
prevent the chosen data analyst from being hired while subsequently declaring that
the vacant position justifies slashing the agency’s budget.

Most fundamentally, this is a deeply moral issue, concerning the wellbeing of
members of marginalized communities. I fervently hope that you choose to stand on
the right side of history. 

Sincerely,

Amelia Hansen
18 S Bedford St
Madison, WI 53703

-- 
Amelia Hansen
(she/her)
There is a genocide of Palestinians happening right now. 
From the river to the sea, Palestine will be free. 
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From: Gregory Gelembiuk
To: Finance Committee
Cc: Madison, Sabrina
Subject: lawsuit settlements, etc.
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 8:57:43 PM
Attachments: Insurance-Fund-information-Kemble-6-10-2020 (1).docx

Public Administration Review - 2019 - Ali - Social Accountability and Institutional Change The Case of Citizen
Oversight.pdf

Dear Finance Committee members,

For Madison, the total cost of suits over police civil rights violations has been over $12.5
million since 2015.

The attached document provides the information for the Heenan, Robinson, and
DiPiazza cases.

Here's a link to information about the Clash-Miller settlement in late 2022:
https://www.gtwlawyers.com/blog/gingras-reaches-1-1-million-settlement-on-behalf-
of-client-in-madison-police-misconduct-lawsuit/

Paul Heenan – settlement amount $2,300,000 (2015); total claim cost $2,771,476
Ashley DiPiazza – settlement amount $4,250,000 (2019); total claim cost $4,692,085
Tony Robinson – settlement amount $3,350,000 (2017); total claim cost $3,953,767
TOTAL = $11,417,328
For the Clash-Miller case I only have the settlement amount - I don't have the total claim
cost.

I am also attaching a study showing the value of civilian police oversight agencies,
particularly those with the authority to conduct independent investigations (as in
Madison), in reducing racial disparities in policing outcomes.

Sincerely,

Dr. Gregory Gelembiuk
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DATE:	June 11, 2020

[bookmark: start]

TO:	Alder Rebecca Kemble



FROM:	David Schmiedicke, Finance Director

	Eric Veum, Risk Manager



SUBJECT:	City Liability Insurance Fund Information



Below is the information you requested related to the City’s Insurance Fund and recent major liability claims.  The City carries liability insurance coverage through the Wisconsin Municipal Mutual Insurance Company (WMMIC).  The City is a charter member of WMMIC and owns a portion of the assets of the company.  The City pays a retention (similar to an insurance deductible) on the first $500,000 of claim costs incurred.  WMMIC pays the amount above the retention level up to $12 million.  In addition to reserves it holds, WMMIC contracts with reinsurance companies to help carry a portion of the loss risk between $500,000 and $12 million.  The City is responsible for liability losses that exceed $12 million.



The graph below shows that the City experienced significant liability losses in calendar years 2012, 2014 and 2015.  Included in those years are the three Police Department cases that you referenced in your request, plus four other liability losses of over $300,000 each.  Two of the other four losses were the 2012 James Madison Park fatality and the Golf Pros case.  The other two cases remain open and the information is confidential.  Since 2015, liability losses have been trending back toward historical levels.














The graph below shows the trend in reserves, as developed by WMMIC’s actuary for the City.  The reserve is calculated at a level to pay claims below the City’s retention level that have not yet been closed or reported to the City.  As you will note, the City’s overall reserve number and the Other Liability reserve number are currently trending downward.  The Other Liability number has the most volatility of the three elements of the reserves and includes civil rights and employment claims, among others.















The graph on the next page provides background on the financial performance of the City’s Insurance Fund from 2006 to 2019.  The primary source of revenue to the fund is insurance billings to city agencies.  Billed amounts are allocated based on an agency’s share of the city’s budget and value of city-owned property, as well as liability losses incurred.  The Insurance Fund was supplemented in 2012, 2013, 2015 and 2016 through an appropriation from the General Fund.  Fund balance includes the value of the City’s ownership share in WMMIC.  The cash balance reflects the actual liquid cash on hand at the end of each fiscal year.



Insurance billings were reduced in 2009 in response to city budget constraints due to the Great Recession and remained at the lower level through 2011.  Supplemental General Fund appropriations in 2012 and 2013 helped to restore some of the fund and cash balances.  Fund and cash balances dropped dramatically in 2015 in response to significant liability losses and the corresponding impacts on reserve calculations, premium levels and payment of the City’s retention on claims.  Supplemental General Fund appropriations and increased billings to departments, combined with a return to more historical levels of claim activity, have helped to stabilize the Insurance Fund.





Below are the three claims for which you requested costinformation.  Total claim costs above the settlement amount include the City’s legal and related costs (e.g., expert witnesses):



· Paul Heenan – settlement amount $2,300,000; total claim cost $2,771,476

· Ashley DiPiazza – settlement amount $4,250,000; total claim cost $4,692,085

· Tony Robinson – settlement amount $3,350,000; total claim cost $3,953,767



It is difficult to quantify the impact that these losses had on the City’s premium.  The premium did increase in response, but the exact relationship cannot be determined due to the extent of the factors that are included in premium calculations.  Some of these factors are reinsurance costs (both as a result of WMMIC’s experience and the reinsurers’ book of business across the United States), exposures changes, retention changes (both the City’s and other WMMIC members), loss experience of other WMMIC members, and WMMIC’s administrative costs.



These losses did directly result in the City’s retention increasing from $300,000 to $500,000 in the last couple of years.  This change was an underwriting decision made by WMMIC and its board as a result of the three law enforcement claims described above.  



Please let us know if you have additional questions.

City of Madison

Insurance Fund Liability Losses
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City of Madison Liability Reserves by Coverage

Confidence level 95% until 12/31/2016, 85% starting 12/31/2017
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City Insurance Fund Financials

2006 to 2019

Dept Billings, Supplemental General Fund Appropriations, Cash Balances and Fund Balances
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Abstract: This article examines the ability of social accountability to spur gradual institutional change at the 
municipal level, using the case of citizen oversight agencies (COAs) for police agencies. Using the gradual change 
framework and the social accountability framework to guide the empirical strategy and data collected through an 
original survey of COAs, the authors test the impact of COAs on institutional outcomes in policing. We find that, 
in accordance with the gradual change framework, the degree to which a COA reduces racial disparity in policing 
outcomes depends on its scope of authority and the degree of discretion afforded by existing institutions to police officers. 
In general, the wider the scope of authority, and the broader the discretion afforded by existing institutions, the greater 
the likelihood of change in institutional outcomes.


Evidence for Practice
•	 Investigative citizen oversight agencies (COAs), which conduct independent investigations into citizen 


complaints and have the authority to recommend discipline to police officers found guilty of misconduct, 
were found to be associated with a reduction in racial disparity in disorderly conduct arrest rates and a 
reduction in racial disparity in police homicides of citizens.


•	 Monitoring COAs, which focus on trends in police misconduct and recommend changes in police policies, 
procedures, and training, were found to be associated with a reduction in racial disparity in disorderly 
conduct arrest rates.


•	 COAs that were led by a board of citizens appointed by the municipal district were found to be associated 
with a reduction in racial disparity in disorderly conduct arrest rates.


•	 Since most impacts of COAs become more evident over time, such agencies likely require an ongoing 
commitment from local governments, especially in terms of financial and human resources.


American policing is said to be suffering a 
crisis of legitimacy. Since the August 9, 2014, 
shooting of Michael Brown in Ferguson, 


Missouri, the public’s attention has been captured 
by police brutality incidents, including numerous 
instances involving police homicides of citizens. The 
overrepresentation of black victims in such incidents 
has led to calls for institutional reforms, including 
demands such as ending broken windows policing 
(see, e.g., ACLU 2016), appointing independent 
prosecutors for cases involving police violence, ending 
overpolicing of minority communities, racially 
diversifying law enforcement agencies, revising use-
of-force policies (see President’s Task Force on 21st 
Century Policing 2015), as well as fundamentally 
rethinking the goals of policing (see Vitale 2017).


These calls have also included demands for creating 
citizen oversight agencies (COAs), which are a type 
of social accountability mechanism (President’s 
Task Force on 21st Century Policing 2015). Social 


accountability refers to “actions by civil society and 
citizens to push officeholders to report on and answer 
for their actions” (Brinkerhoff and Wetterberg 2016, 
275). COAs are institutional arrangements by which 
citizen complaints against police are reviewed at some 
point by people who are not sworn officers (Walker 
and Bumphus 1992). In this article, we examine 
the effectiveness of COAs as a means of changing 
institutional outcomes in policing—in this case, 
racial disparities in arrest rates and homicides of 
citizens by law enforcement officers—in the United 
States. We do this by combining the gradual change 
framework (Rocco and Thurston 2014) with the 
social accountability framework (Fox 2015) to guide 
our empirical strategy and model building.1


We take a historical-institutionalist perspective, 
viewing institutions as political legacies of historical 
struggles that persist over time because they help 
maintain power imbalances favoring certain 
actors in society. According to the gradual change 
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framework, any set of rules or expectations, formal or informal, that 
structure action will privilege certain actors over others in terms of 
distributional consequences. We believe that this is plausible for 
certain policing practices even if they are defined in ostensibly race-
neutral terms (e.g., “zero tolerance” policing and the use of stop, 
question, and frisk tactics; see Eterno, Barrow, and Silverman 2017; 
Fagan et al. 2010; Gelman, Fagan, and Kiss 2007; Weisburd and 
Majmundar 2018).


As an antidote to the patterns of discrimination in policing, 
COAs are agencies that are intended to enhance accountability 
and transparency in policing and build community trust through 
citizen oversight. In most police agencies in the United States, 
when a citizen makes a formal complaint about a police officer, 
that complaint is investigated and adjudicated by other sworn 
officers. This internal investigation process is problematic because 
it creates a conflict of interest that tilts, or can be perceived to tilt, 
the accountability process in favor of the police. COAs attempt 
to address this accountability deficit by opening insular, internal 
police investigations to the scrutiny of citizens and/or professionals 
who serve on the COA. In theory, COAs deter police misconduct 
by performing functions such as reviewing findings made by the 
police agency’s internal affairs division, assessing whether such 
investigations were conducted in a thorough and fair manner, and 
even conducting independent investigations and recommending 
discipline and changes in police policies, if that authority is 
granted. As citizen-oriented accountability bodies, COAs can create 
incentives for police to take preemptive steps to limit misconduct, 
for example, by increasing supervision of rookie officers, voluntarily 
changing policies pertaining to the use of force, and reducing the 
level of engagement with minorities for minor offenses.


Notwithstanding these implications, research on the impact of 
COAs, and on social accountability mechanisms in general, is 
relatively thin in the context of developed countries (for empirical 
social accountability studies in the context of developing countries, 
see Altman 2002; Brinkerhoff and Wetterberg 2016; Ma 2012; 
Schatz 2013). Little is known about the difference made by stronger 
COAs relative to those with limited authority in terms of impacting 
police behavior, especially in the United States. Our study attempts 
to fill that gap in the literature.


Given the substantial evidence of the racially disparate impact of 
policing institutions (see, e.g., Alexander 2012; Epp, Maynard-
Moody, and Haider-Markel 2017; Kochel, Wilson, and Mastrofski 
2011; Menifield, Shin, and Strother 2019; Nix et al. 2017; Vitale 
2017; Ward and Rivera 2014), we believe it is incumbent on 
scholars to evaluate strategies intended to make policing more 
responsive to social equity concerns. The President’s Task Force 
on 21st Century Policing echoed the necessity of such research, 
urging “evidence-based practices to implement successful civilian 
oversight mechanisms” (President’s Task Force on 21st Century 
Policing 2015, 26). This article highlights the institutional and 
organizational characteristics of COAs that are likely to be most 
effective at reducing the racial disparities in the aforementioned 
policing outcomes. Our findings should be of value to public 
administrators such as city managers, mayors, and police chiefs who 
are interested in strategies and organizational interventions intended 
to make policing in their jurisdiction more racially equitable.


We believe that this is the first study to evaluate the impact of COAs 
on racial disparities in policing outcomes. While we use the gradual 
change framework and the social accountability framework to guide 
our model building and empirical strategy, our goal is to test the 
impact of different types of COAs on policing outcomes, not on 
institutional change, although we believe that changes in policing 
outcomes reflect changes in the institutions and rules governing 
police behavior. In short, we are concerned with the impact of 
social accountability mechanisms, such as COAs, on institutional 
outcomes.


This article proceeds in seven sections: First, we review the findings 
from COA research. In the second section, we describe how the 
gradual change framework, combined with propositions from the 
social accountability framework, can serve as a blueprint to predict 
the impact of social accountability mechanisms. In the third section, 
we propose hypotheses about the conditions under which COAs are 
likely to lead to socially equitable outcomes in police enforcement 
activities that involve different degrees of discretion. In the fourth 
section, we introduce our empirical strategy and data set. In the 
fifth section, we present the results from the estimated models. In 
the sixth section, we discuss the results and the limitations of this 
study, and in the seventh section, we draw conclusions about the 
effectiveness of COAs and the efficacy of the GCF in explaining 
changes in institutional outcomes.


Literature Review
COAs are government agencies, predominantly at the local level,2 
that are intended to serve as a source of external oversight over 
police agencies. Since 1969, when the first currently existing COA 
was created in Kansas City, Missouri, the number of COAs in 
the United States has gradually grown, with around 145 COAs 
nationwide as of 2017 (for a discussion of the history of citizen 
oversight in the United States, see Walker 2001, 2006).3 COAs in 
the United States operate in a variety of political and socioeconomic 
milieus and exhibit considerable variation in terms of their formal 
authority, level of professionalization, staffing, budgetary authority, 
and style of oversight. They are often created through a local 
government ordinance or an amendment to the local government 
charter (De Angelis, Rosenthal, and Buchner 2016).


The simplest COAs consist of a board of citizens that can 
review the findings of investigations conducted by the police 
agency’s internal affairs division. Such COAs often have little 
or no budgetary authority, with the board of citizens serving on 
a volunteer basis. More organizationally complex COAs may 
include a paid full-time staff of lawyers, investigators, and policy 
analysts that reports to the citizen board. Such COAs often have 
substantial budgetary authority, the ability to conduct independent 
investigations into citizen complaints, and access to police 
evidence records and electronic databases. Based on our survey of 
COAs, while board members in most COAs are appointed by the 
mayor or city council, the methodology for the appointment of 
board members (i.e., by the municipal district or at-large) often 
varies across jurisdictions (De Angelis, Rosenthal, and Buchner 
2016). Finally, prior research has postulated that COAs are likely 
to be created after an officer-involved shooting or incidents 
involving racially disparate policing (De Angelis, Rosenthal, and 
Buchner 2016).
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Recent studies in public administration have emphasized the 
impact of institutions on racial disparities in policing outcomes, as 
opposed to individual-level behaviors (Epp, Maynard-Moody, and 
Haider-Markel 2017; Eterno, Barrow, and Silverman 2017; Hong 
2017; Jennings and Rubado 2017; Kim and Kiesel 2018; Maynard-
Moody and Musheno 2012; Menifield, Shin, and Strother 2019; 
Rivera and Ward 2017). While these studies effectively demonstrate 
the relevance and importance of widely prevalent norms, rules, 
and values in driving racially disparate criminal justice outcomes, 
the role of accountability institutions has not received sufficient 
attention. On the other hand, while criminal justice and legal 
studies scholars have conducted a substantial degree of theorizing 
about the organizational characteristics of citizen oversight and the 
conditions under which it is likely to have an impact on policing 
and criminal justice outcomes, few studies have directly and 
empirically examined the impact of COAs on racial disparities in 
policing outcomes—a gap we attempt to fill. Studies in the latter 
category include Brereton (2000), Walker and Luna (2000), Terrill 
and Ingram (2016), Worden (2004), and Hickman (2006). These 
studies examine the impact of COAs on overall police misconduct, 
general efficacy of citizen oversight, or trends in complaints against 
the police. We look at this literature in somewhat more detail to 
extrapolate insights for the current study.


Brereton (2000) highlighted the case of the Queensland Criminal 
Justice Commission (CJC), a well-resourced and well-staffed 
oversight body, with two-thirds of its budget of 23 million 
Australian dollars devoted to conducting oversight operations. 
Introduced in the mid-1990s as part of a suite of measures to reform 
the Queensland Police Services, the CJC played an active role in 
fostering robust investigations of complaints, made procedural 
and policy recommendations directly to the police service, and 
employed proactive surveillance strategies to detect and deter serious 
police misconduct. Based on surveys of senior officers, several 
cohorts of new officers, as well as analyses of trends in complaints, 
Brereton found that subsequent to the establishment of the CJC, 
there was a reduction in the incidence of serious assault by police 
and other types of misconduct and improvements in the police 
culture, including an increased tendency among officers to report 
misconduct by other officers. While this report focused only on 
a single police agency, it provides evidence that a well-resourced 
agency, with a substantive investigative as well as policy role, can 
reduce officer misconduct and improve the agency culture.


Walker and Luna (2000) conducted an evaluation of the citizen 
oversight system in Albuquerque, New Mexico. Albuquerque 
had two oversight bodies from the late 1980s to the mid-1990s: 
the office of the Independent Counsel and the Police Safety 
Advisory Board, in addition to the internal affairs division of 
the Albuquerque Police Department (APD). Despite having two 
oversight agencies, a racially diverse police agency, and a use-of-
deadly-force policy that conformed to professional standards, 
together with a general decline in police-involved homicides of 
citizens in most other major U.S. cities, the number of police-
involved shootings in Albuquerque continued to be high relative to 
other major U.S. cities. To understand the gaps in the accountability 
processes, the researchers reviewed the official documents of the 
foregoing agencies and conducted interviews and surveys of a range 
of stakeholders.


They found that the Independent Counsel and the Police Safety 
Advisory Board, while having substantial statutory authority to 
conduct oversight, generally failed to exercise the powers that 
were expressly granted to them by law. For instance, although the 
Independent Counsel had broad statutory authority to “direct 
the overall manner” of the complaint investigation process in the 
APD and to recommend discipline and policy changes wherever 
it deemed appropriate, its contract with the city restricted the role 
of the Independent Counsel to merely reviewing the findings of 
internal affairs investigations. Furthermore, the contract defined the 
Independent Counsel’s role in terms of a lawyer-client relationship, 
a constraint that, while not statutorily required, stipulated that the 
information gathered by the Independent Counsel could not be 
disclosed publicly. This insulated the Independent Counsel from the 
public, thus undermining public responsiveness and accountability. 
This study highlights that it is possible to blunt the potential impact 
of a COA by restricting its authority and public role, even if it 
originally had broad statutory authority.


Terrill and Ingram (2016) assessed the extent to which different 
oversight models (internal affairs, command level, or citizen 
oversight) were associated with whether citizen complaints against 
police were sustained. They found that when police agencies used 
COAs as part of their complaint process—whereby the COA could 
review internal affairs findings—the odds of a sustained disposition 
increased by 78 percent, relative to when they were referred to 
and investigated by internal affairs alone. Second, in cities where 
the COA served only as an intake or complaint-receiving entity, 
the odds of a sustained disposition were 80 percent less than if 
complaints were referred the internal affairs division alone. Oversight 
models in which complaints were referred to and investigated at 
the command level were 39 percent less likely to sustain complaints 
relative to when complaints were solely referred to the internal affairs 
division. Thus, this study suggests that review of police complaint 
investigations by COAs results in a higher proportion of complaints 
being sustained, while having COAs with no “oversight” authority 
tends to reduce the proportion of sustained complaints.


Finally, Worden (2004) indirectly evaluated the impact of a COA in 
deterring police misconduct in an anonymous jurisdiction as part 
of a larger study examining public satisfaction with the complaint 
review system.4 This study relied on ex post surveys and interviews of 
citizens who had come into direct contact with police, complainants, 
and police officers. Worden argued that the likelihood of this 
particular COA deterring misconduct was limited because only 
9 percent of respondents who perceived police misconduct actually 
filed a complaint with the COA or the internal affairs division (the 
rest complained to the police chief, another police official, or their 
lawyer). Even if up to 20 percent of these complaints were sustained 
(a high estimate), then only 0.5 percent of the perceived misconduct 
would be sanctioned as a result of complaint review.


However, a caveat to the above argument is that most of the people 
who experienced police misconduct did not know that a COA 
existed. This study did not investigate whether a higher proportion 
of perceived misconduct would have been reported to the COA, 
and subsequently sustained, if the public knew that a COA existed. 
It also provides few details about the scope of authority or the 
powers of the COA, which can have a critical impact on the COA’s 
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potential for deterring misconduct. Per our reading, the above 
COA seems to be a relatively weak agency with no budgetary or 
appointment powers (Worden 2004, 26). This study suggests that 
COAs that are not well publicized or that have limited powers and/
or no budget are not very likely to deter police misconduct.


The foregoing literature, while useful, does not attempt to examine 
the overall impact of a large number of COAs or the impact of 
variation in their scope of authority on policing outcomes. Our 
contribution addresses this gap in the literature by examining the 
impact of COAs on policing outcomes using survey data on a sample 
of municipal-level COAs in the United States.5 Most studies focus on 
either a few COAs (or just one) and hardly any studies use quasi-
experimental designs. Our empirical strategy uses a two-way fixed-
effects methodology with year- and municipality-specific fixed effects 
that control for time-invariant factors and secular time trends that 
may impact policing outcomes while also controlling for additional 
time-varying factors. Additionally, irrespective of geographic locale, no 
studies directly look at the impact of COAs or other oversight agencies 
on differential police enforcement by race, as we attempt to do here.


Furthermore, we bring a rigorous empirical approach to this 
question, departing from literature reviews and less rigorous 
case study approaches. We focus on the disparity between blacks 
and whites because the prior literature has found that blacks are 
more likely to bear the brunt of policing relative to whites (Epp, 
Maynard-Moody, and Haider-Markel 2017; Kochel, Wilson, and 
Mastrofski 2011) and because COAs are often created after an 
incident of police brutality against a citizen of color (De Angelis, 
Rosenthal, and Buchner 2016).


Gradual Institutional Change as a Blueprint for Social 
Accountability Impact
According to the gradual change framework, two factors combine 
to facilitate change in institutional outcomes: the conduciveness 
of the political context and whether the targeted institution 
affords opportunities to exercise discretion in the interpretation 
or enforcement of rules (Rocco and Thurston 2014). The 
conduciveness of the political context often depends on the presence 
of powerful veto players or veto points. Veto possibilities are high, 
rendering the political context not conducive when actors have 
access to institutional or extra-institutional means to block change. 
These actors may have veto powers that keep change proposals off 
the table, or they may exercise substantial influence over how rules 
(formal or informal) are interpreted at the street level.


The second factor, opportunities to exercise discretion, makes 
institutional change possible by allowing actors to interpret or 
enforce existing institutions in different ways. Thus, if existing 
institutions are ambiguous, they can be reinterpreted in different 
ways or are subject to incremental changes. Consequently, 
institutional change is more likely to occur, and outcomes are more 
likely to change. Dichotomizing the presence of institutional veto 
points and the degree of discretion afforded by existing institutions 
results in a 2 × 2 table in which four kinds of change processes 
are possible. Figure 1 shows these four possibilities.6 The types of 
change referenced in each quadrant of figure 1 are described in 
appendix A in the Supporting Information. For a more detailed 
explication of the different types of change and their application to 


Low High
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Possibilities


Drift Layering


Weak Veto 
Possibilities


Displacement Conversion
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of the Political 
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Discretion Afforded by Existing Institutions


Figure 1  Types of Institutional Change under Various 
Combinations of Political Contexts and Discretion Afforded by 
Existing Institutions


extant empirical work in political economy, see Rocco and Thurston 
(2014).


In this study, we use the scope of a COA’s authority as an indirect 
measure of the strength of veto points (examples of veto points 
include police unions or the presence of local politicians opposed 
to COAs). We do this for three reasons: First, we believe it is 
reasonable to suggest that when veto points are weak, a COA with 
a broad scope of authority will be more likely to be established 
compared with a COA with a narrow scope of authority. 
Conversely, when veto points are strong, a COA with a narrow 
scope of authority will be more likely to be established compared 
with one with a broad scope of authority. More broadly, using the 
scope of a COA’s authority as a measure of the strength of veto 
points allows us to use the GCF to guide our empirical analysis.


Second, using the scope of COA authority as a measure of the 
strength of veto points, and therefore as a variable in model 
building, allows us to focus on its impact on racial disparities in 
policing outcomes (one of the goals of this study) and to address a 
long-standing gap in the literature on the impact of COAs.


Third, using the scope of authority as a variable in model building 
adds to the prior literature on COAs, which has highlighted but 
has not empirically teased out the potential impact of the scope of a 
COA’s authority on policing outcomes (see De Angelis, Rosenthal, 
and Buchner 2016; Lewis 1999; Walker and Archbold 2014). In 
summary, we use the scope of COA authority as a measure of the 
strength of veto points because it allows us to align our empirical 
strategy with the GCF while also enabling us to focus on the causal 
impact of the scope of authority on racial disparities in policing 
outcomes, which is an important goal in and of itself.


Regarding the degree of discretion afforded by existing institutions, 
we consider two types of enforcement actions: disorderly conduct 
arrests (DCAs)7 and police homicides of citizens (PHCs). To assess 
the impact of COAs on high-discretion police work, we focus on 
DCAs, whereas for assessing the impact of COAs on low-discretion 
police work, we focus on PHCs involving the use of a firearm. We 
believe that DCAs can be viewed as an example of an enforcement 
action that affords officers high discretion because of their routine 
nature, which makes them less likely to attract scrutiny from the 
public, police supervisors, or a COA, if one exists. On the other 
hand, PHCs involving the use of a firearm are highly salient 
events that are almost guaranteed to attract scrutiny from internal 
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accountability mechanisms (Cordner and Scott 2014) and/or a 
COA (Fallik and Novak 2014). Thus, police officers’ discretionary 
authority in using deadly force against citizens is checked by internal 
and external accountability mechanisms. Furthermore, the exercise of 
discretion in using deadly force is restricted by specific court rulings 
such as the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Tennessee v. Garner 
(471 U.S. 1 [1985]), which prohibits police officers from using 
deadly force against a fleeing felon unless the officer has probable 
cause to believe that the suspect poses a significant threat of death or 
physical injury to the officer or to others. By contrast, police officers’ 
discretionary authority in making DCAs is significantly less likely 
to be checked by internal and external accountability mechanisms, 
increasing the discretion they have when deciding to make a DCA.


In summary, we consider two levels of scope of authority (broad and 
narrow) and two levels of discretion (high and low) in this study. 
According to the gradual change framework, while institutional 
outcomes can change under any combination of veto points and 
discretion, the type of change that is likely to occur under a given 
set of conditions will be different. With a broad scope of authority 
and low discretion, the disparity in PHCs is likely to diminish, 
owing to the supplanting of institutions—this type of change is 
referred to as “displacement” in the gradual change framework 
literature (see appendix A; Rocco and Thurston 2014). With a 
broad scope of authority and high discretion, the disparity in 
DCAs is likely to diminish, owing to the enhanced opportunities 
for reinterpretation of institutions pertaining to DCAs—referred 
to as “conversion” (Rocco and Thurston 2014). With a narrow 
scope of authority and high discretion, the disparity in DCAs is 
likely to reduce incrementally—referred to as “layering” (Rocco and 
Thurston 2014)—because of amendments to existing institutions 
pertaining to DCAs. Finally, with a narrow scope of authority 
and low discretion, the disparity in PHCs may become more 
pronounced because of a failure to update institutions pertaining to 
the use of deadly force (i.e., “drift”; see appendix A).


In the next section, we discuss propositions from the social 
accountability framework. By combining the propositions from the 
gradual change framework and the social accountability framework 
in our empirical strategy, we hope to contribute to a unique and 
nuanced understanding of social accountability impact relative to 
what has been offered in the literature thus far.


Propositions from the Social Accountability Framework
Widespread replication of donor-funded social accountability 
initiatives in developing countries has led to an extensive literature on 
social accountability elements and the circumstances under which they 
are likely to have an impact. Meta-analyses have tended to converge 
on a number of propositions (e.g., see Fox 2015). Two propositions 
that are relevant to our study are assertions that social accountability 
initiatives are likely to have an impact when they combine citizen 
action and mobilization with the state’s capacity to respond to citizen 
actions and the need for citizen voice to be aggregated horizontally 
(across the population) and scaled up vertically (that is, represented at 
the policy- or decision-making table) (Fox 2015).


The first proposition suggests that social accountability mechanisms 
are more likely to have an impact when citizen voice and the state’s 
capacity to respond to citizen voice mutually reinforce each other—


that is, when they have a positive interaction effect on institutional 
outcomes (Fox 2015). This claim is premised on the realization that 
a lack of accountability for bureaucratic misconduct is facilitated 
by vertically integrated relationships between elected leaders and 
bureaucrats. To the extent that these powerful actors shield each other’s 
interests, they create “low-accountability traps,” in which demands for 
citizen oversight are likely to be deflected by anti-accountability actors 
who may be averse to promoting pro-accountability reforms. This 
suggests that oversight mechanisms can only be effective when they 
are also based on vertically integrated relationships between citizens 
and state actors—that is, pro-change citizens and reformist state actors 
should be able to empower each other. That is, citizen voice and teeth 
are needed simultaneously to bring about pro-accountability power 
shifts, rather than either voice or teeth.


The second proposition refers to whether the voices of marginalized 
communities, who have the most to gain from greater accountability 
of public officials, are heard or not. We propose that whether 
the COA is led by a board, as opposed to a single executive, and 
whether the board is appointed by the municipal district, rather 
than at-large, is important in this regard. Having a board that is 
appointed by the municipal district makes it more likely that a 
cross-section of community voices, including minorities, will be 
projected up to political elites.


In summary, the gradual change framework and the social 
accountability framework identify four broad factors that drive the 
process of institutional change and, hence, institutional outcomes. 
These are (1) the conduciveness of the political context, which 
we operationalize as a COA’s scope of authority; (2) the degree of 
discretion afforded by institutions relating to disparity in DCAs 
and PHCs; (3) the extent to which citizen voice and teeth reinforce 
each other; and (4) the governance of the COA. These factors serve 
as our variables of interest, and in the next section, we present 
hypotheses that relate them to the outcome variables.


Hypotheses
COA Scope of Authority
Criminal justice and legal studies scholars have long theorized the 
key elements of an effective system of citizen oversight of police 
(Lewis 1999; Walker and Archbold 2014). These elements tend to 
focus on the scope of authority of COAs, which is usually codified 
at the time of their founding.


The literature classifies COAs based on their scope of authority 
(De Angelis, Rosenthal, and Buchner 2016; Ferdik, Rojek, and 
Alpert 2013; Police Assessment Resource Center 2005). Based 
on a factor analysis of 13 survey questions, we adopt a slightly 
modified version of the oversight classification scheme proposed by 
De Angelis, Rosenthal, and Buchner (2016), categorizing COAs as 
investigative, monitoring, or review/audit COAs (see appendix B for 
a description of the factor analysis procedure used to categorize our 
sample COAs). These categories are not mutually exclusive; rather, 
each type of COA is an amalgam of similar authorities that vary in 
emphasis.


Investigative COAs emphasize classifying citizen-initiated 
complaints, conducting independent investigations, recommending 
findings to the police, and recommending discipline. Such agencies 
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are more likely to have paid full-time staff relative than other 
types of COAs. Monitoring COAs emphasize active monitoring 
of police complaint investigations and are likely to have access 
to the internal affairs division’s electronic databases and internal 
affairs files (including closed case files), which they use to analyze 
trends and patterns in police misconduct. Based on their analyses, 
these COAs are concerned with recommending changes to existing 
police policies to prevent future misconduct. They are less likely 
than investigative COAs to have paid full-time staff. Finally, 
review/audit COAs emphasize reviewing and auditing of completed 
complaint investigations conducted by police. While these agencies 
may have access to closed internal affairs files, they are the least 
likely to have full-time staff or to recommend discipline or policy 
change. Since investigative COAs may recommend discipline 
against individual officers found guilty of misconduct and are the 
most likely to have paid full-time staff, we consider them to have 
the broadest scope of authority, followed by monitoring, and then 
review/audit COAs.


Thus, in agreement with the gradual change framework and the 
social accountability framework, which posit that the conduciveness 
of the political context matters, we hypothesize that COAs with a 
relatively broader scope of authority (investigative and monitoring 
COAs) are more likely to reduce racial disparity in DCAs and PHCs 
compared with review/audit COAs. Thus, our hypotheses are as 
follows:


Hypothesis 1: Investigative COAs will be associated with a 
reduction in racial disparity in DCAs.


Hypothesis 2: Monitoring COAs will be associated with a 
reduction in racial disparity in DCAs.


Hypothesis 3: Investigative COAs will be associated with a 
reduction in racial disparity in PHCs.


Hypothesis 4: Monitoring COAs will be associated with a 
reduction in racial disparity in PHCs.


Mutually Reinforcing Effect of Voice and Teeth
We operationalize teeth—a COA’s ability to apply negative 
sanctions and to recommend policy change (Fox 2015)—along a 
three-point scale. At level 0, a COA does not have the authority 
to recommend discipline to police officers who it believes are 
guilty of some misconduct, nor does it have any authority to 
recommend changes in police policies. At level 1, a COA has 
one of the two authorities: it may recommend either discipline 
or policy changes—it does not have the authority to do both. 
At level 2, an agency can recommend both discipline and policy 
changes.


Voice refers to the views of citizens who would be otherwise 
excluded from the accountability process in the absence of a COA 
because of ethnic, racial, or class bias (Fox 2015). As argued earlier, 
the synergistic combination of voice and teeth is one of the factors 
that drive the process of institutional change. We use the number 
of civil rights organizations in each municipality, a time-varying 
variable, as a measure of a community’s voice, with the assumption 
that an increase in the number of civil rights organizations will be 


associated with greater intensity in calls for police reform. Thus, 
hypotheses 5 and 6 are as follows:


Hypothesis 5: COAs will reduce racial disparity in DCAs 
when they have the teeth to respond to citizens’ voice—that 
is, when there is an interaction between voice and teeth.


Hypothesis 6: COAs will reduce racial disparity in PHCs, 
when they have the teeth to respond to citizens’ voice—that 
is, when there is an interaction between voice and teeth.


Governance
COAs are often, but not always, led by a board of appointed 
citizens. As alluded to earlier, if the COA is led by a board of 
citizens, it may be more likely to represent minority communities 
and act as a bridge between citizens and the government, relative to 
individual efforts. Thus, we hypothesize the following:


Hypothesis 7: COAs that report to a board appointed by the 
municipal district will reduce racial disparity in arrests relative 
to COAs whose leaders are chosen at-large, or those that are 
led by a single executive.


Hypothesis 8: COAs that report to a board appointed by the 
municipal district will reduce racial disparity in the police 
homicide rate relative to COAs whose leaders are chosen 
at-large, or those that are led by a single executive.


Discretion Afforded by Existing Institutions
Since DCAs are assumed to afford police officers more discretion 
than situations involving PHCs, we expect COAs to be more 
likely to reduce disparity in DCAs compared with the disparity 
in PHCs.


This leads to the following hypothesis:


Hypothesis 9: COAs are more likely to reduce racial disparity 
in DCAs compared with PHCs.


The foregoing hypotheses can be represented in diagrammatic form 
as shown in figure 2.


Empirical Strategy
Our dependent variables are (1) disparity in DCAs between blacks 
and whites per 100,000 people and (2) disparity in PHCs between 
blacks and whites per 100,000 citizens. Racial disparity in DCAs is 
calculated as follows:


Disparity in Arrest Rate
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Racial disparity in PHCs is calculated as follows:
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The police homicide rate for race rmt is calculated as follows:
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The measures of racial disparity in DCAs and PHCs that we use 
are population-based benchmark measures that use the race-specific 
adult population (i.e., blacks and whites 18 years and older) as the 
relevant risk set for each race. Such measures have frequently been 
used to measure racial disparities in policing outcomes in a variety 
of studies (Neil and Winship 2019; Shjarback et al. 2017; Wilkins 
and Williams 2008).


While scholars have pointed out the limitations of using 
population-based benchmarks to assess racial disparities, it has 
also been acknowledged in the literature that identification of 
appropriate benchmarks requires detailed, localized information 
about the geography and nature of policing strategies—information 
that is generally not included in publicly available data sets 
(Weisburd and Majmundar 2018) or in studies that examine 
racial disparities in policing outcomes in more than a handful 
of jurisdictions. Ideally, we would have the resources to conduct 
surveys similar to those completed by Epp, Maynard-Moody, and 
Haider-Markel (2017) to develop a benchmark measure that not 
only accounts for the numbers of black and white adults but also 
how much these groups tend to violate specific laws and the extent 
of contact they are likely to have with the police. Given the lack 
of resources necessary to collect these additional data for the large 


number of municipalities in our sample, however, we offer the best 
available alternative often offered by scholars in similar situations 
(e.g., see Shjarback et al. 2017; Wilkins and Williams 2008). 
Therefore, the measures of racial disparity that we use represent the 
only plausible benchmark given the unit of analysis in our study and 
the large number of municipalities in our sample.


The period chosen for DCAs is 1980 to 2014,8 while the period 
chosen for PHCs is 2000 to 2014. The sample consists of 
municipal-level COAs that responded to our survey. For the sake 
of consistency in the analysis and generalizability of conclusions, 
we excluded nonmunicipal jurisdictions from regression analyses. 
The method chosen is a two-way fixed-effects model with year- and 
municipality-specific fixed effects, which takes the following form:
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The term Ymt represents the two dependent variables; Xmt contains a 
vector of time-varying covariates; and Investigation, Monitoring, and 
Review/Audit are the predicted factor scores for the three types of 
COAs in the sample (see appendix B for a description of the factor 
analysis procedure used to categorize our sample COAs). These 
scores are essentially indices, with higher values denoting a broader 
scope of authority for a particular type of COA. For instance, a 
COA with a large, positive value for Investigation is likely to be an 
investigative COA.


Teeth is a set of two indicator variables that represent level 1 
and level 2 teeth. Voice represents the number of civil rights 
organizations in the city. Teeth × Voice represents the interaction 
between the level of teeth and the number of civil rights 
organizations. Governance is an indicator that equals 1 when 
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Figure 2  Schematic Diagram of Factors Hypothesized to Affect COA Effectiveness
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the COA is led by a board whose members are appointed by the 
municipal district and 0 otherwise, and Age denotes the age of the 
COA. The terms wm and vt are municipality- and year-specific fixed 
effects, respectively, and εmt is a mean-zero random error.


Our empirical strategy employs a two-way fixed-effects model 
in which the municipality-specific fixed effects control for 
unobservable, time-invariant characteristics of individual 
municipalities that may be correlated with the treatment, while 
year-specific fixed effects control for secular trends in the dependent 
variables. Secular time trends in the dependent variables can result 
from a variety of factors, such as shifts in general policing patterns 
or Supreme Court decisions governing police-citizen interactions 
in the United States (e.g., Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1 [1985]; 
Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386 [1989]). The foregoing empirical 
strategy, in which the coefficients can be interpreted as within-
unit effects, is often used to evaluate the impact of a policy that is 
adopted at different points in time by individual jurisdictions (e.g., 
Albalate 2008).


Models for disparity in DCAs were estimated using fixed-effects 
ordinary least squares regression, while models for disparity in 
PHCs were estimated using fixed-effects Poisson regression. We used 
the Poisson fixed-effects estimator because it is a true fixed-effects 
estimator (as opposed to the negative binomial) and it has been 
found to reliably estimate the effects of regressors as well as establish 
statistical significance, even in the presence of overdispersion 
(Wooldridge 1999). All models account for intragroup correlation 
using robust standard errors clustered at the municipality level.


Data
Table 1 summarizes the data sources used in this study. Data on 
COAs’ scope of authority, teeth, and governance were obtained 
from an online survey administered in mid-2017. We contacted 
114 COAs located in 111 municipal jurisdictions as part of our 
survey.9,10 A few municipalities have multiple COAs with varied 
roles and responsibilities. We focused on the COA within each 
municipality that was most directly involved with conducting 
oversight (i.e., reviewing complaint investigations, auditing 
completed complaint investigations, conducting independent 
investigations, recommending discipline and policy), using it as the 
representative form of oversight in that municipality.


Of the COAs that were contacted, 91 COAs located in 88 
municipal jurisdictions responded to the survey, resulting in a 
gross municipal-level response rate of 79.28 percent (88/111).11 
Among the COAs responding from these 88 municipalities, one 
was created in 2016 and therefore was not used in our analysis 
(which spans 1980–2014). Another COA returned a survey that was 
only partially complete, and six COAs (which returned completed 
surveys) belonged to municipalities for which arrest data were not 
available through the Uniform Crime Reporting program. We 
made a Freedom of Information Act request for arrest data for these 
six municipalities, but it was declined. After removing these eight 
municipalities from our sample, we were left with 80 municipalities 
(corresponding to 83 COAs) that could be used in our study. The 
net (or effective) municipal-level response rate for our survey was 
72.07 percent (80/111). Our analytic sample thus represents a 
snapshot of the institutional structure of citizen oversight in 80 
distinct municipalities.


Figure 3 shows the geographic dispersion of COAs in our sampling 
frame, highlighting that COAs tend to be concentrated in cities 
with large populations. Table 2 presents summary statistics from 
the survey. The median 2014 population in municipalities that 
responded to our survey is around 254,000. The median percentage 
of black citizens (in 2014) in a given municipality in our sample 
is 16.1 percent, which is larger than the country overall (12.6 
percent as of 2014; U.S. Census Bureau 2014). Considering that 
the median year of COA establishment for our sample is 2000, 
this suggests that these agencies have mushroomed in the past 
couple decades. Overall, these facts suggest that COAs tend to be 
established in large cities that have a relatively high proportion 
of blacks, and thus where interactions between blacks and police 
officers are likely to be more frequent.


Regarding endogeneity, a concern is whether municipalities self-
select into creating COAs. We tested for this possibility by testing 
for the significance of time distance dummies from the year in 
which a COA was created, as well as testing whether the parallel 
trend assumption is met for cities that established COAs versus 
those that did not (for untreated cities, we used all U.S. cities that 
had never established a COA, whose 2010 population exceeded 
100,000, and for which data on DCAs and PHCs were available). 
Overall, these tests indicated that there is little or no self-selection 


Table 1  Variables and data sources


Variable Type Source


Disorderly conduct arrest rates by race Panel; 1980–2014 Uniform Crime Reports (UCR), and through Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) requests from Illinois, Washington, 
D.C., and selected cities in Washington and Massachusetts.


Police homicides of citizens by race Panel; 2000–2014 Fatalencounters.org
COA year of creation, scope of authority, teeth, and 


governance
Cross-sectional. Assumed to remain time-invariant Online Survey, administered through Qualtrics.


Voice (i.e., number of civil rights organizations in 
jurisdiction)


Panel; 1980–2014 Internal Revenue Service Masterfile


Alternative accountability mechanism dummy Cross-sectional. Assumed to remain time-invariant Online Survey, administered through Qualtrics.
Consent decree dummy Panel; 1980–2014 U.S. Department of Justice website
Per capita income Panel; 1980–2014 U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-year estimates
Unemployment Panel; 1980–2014 U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-year estimates
Percentage of 25+ population with bachelors 


degree
Panel; 1980–2014 U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-year estimates


Percentage of population that is black Panel; 1980–2014 U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-year estimates
Violent Crime Rate Panel; 1980–2014 UCR
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Figure 3  Geographic Dispersion of COAs in the Contiguous United States


Table 2  Descriptive Statistics


Variable Mean SD Min Max


Racial disparity in disorderly conduct arrests in pre-period (per 100,000) 487.49 722.26 −654.16 8,615.85
Racial disparity in disorderly conduct arrests in post-period (per 100,000) 352.24 695.87 −3,533.90 5,357.12
Racial disparity in police homicides in pre-period (per 100,000) 0.42 2.32 −8.89 27.80
Racial disparity in police homicides in post-period (per 100,000) 0.51 2.76 −5.08 58.86
Percentage of COAs with authority to classify citizen-initiated complaint 48.89 50.26
Percentage of COAs with authority to review police complaint investigations 83.69 37.12
Percentage of COAs with authority to conduct independent investigations 46.73 50.16
Percentage of COAs with authority to audit/monitor police complaint investigations 57.30 49.74
Percentage of COAs with authority to recommend/issue investigation findings to police 68.90 47.60
Percentage of COAs with authority to access IA electronic databases 37.36 48.64
Percentage of COAs with authority to recommend discipline and policy change 20.91 40.85
Percentage of COAs with by-district governance 25.00 39.73
Percentage of jurisdictions with at least one alternate accountability mechanism 64.54 48.05
Percentage of jurisdictions under consent decree or court oversight 9.09 28.87
COA budget ($) 5,23,528.50 12,23,673.00 0.00 84,60,483.00
Number of full-time paid staff 9.18 14.32 0.00 70.00
Percent population black 20.48 18.19 .0026 85.24
Per capita income ($) 19,264.65 8,691.47 5,352.00 83,387.00
Unemployment rate 7.18 3.38 1.00 32.50
Percentage of population 25+ with bachelors degree 29.59 14.15 6.37 81.60
Violent crime rate 990.70 671.04 16.70 4,352.80


into the creation of COAs. Appendices C and D explain these tests 
in more detail and present regression estimates from them.


Data on PHCs were obtained from the crowdsourced database 
created by the Fatal Encounters (FE) Project, which is maintained 
and fact-checked by a nonprofit. This database catalogs every 
police-involved death since 2000. While the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation does collect data on police-involved civilian deaths, 
these data are subject to substantial underreporting, the extent of 
which varies across jurisdictions (Barber et al. 2016). Several recent 
public administration studies studying PHCs have either directly 
used the FE database or used it to cross-check data gathered from 


other crowdsourced databases (see Jennings and Rubado 2017; 
Menifield, Shin, and Strother 2019; Nicholson-Crotty, Nicholson-
Crotty, and Fernandez 2017).


Following previous research using the FE database (see Jennings 
and Rubado 2017), we retained only firearm-related deaths in our 
data and ignored other types of deaths—such as those involving 
tasers, vehicles, asphyxiation, etc.—because they are less likely to 
be intentional. We also excluded deaths in which more than one 
police agency was involved, because of the difficulty in attributing 
such deaths to specific police agencies. Furthermore, as we were 
interested in municipalities, deaths involving state or federal 
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agencies were also eliminated. Since we are evaluating the impact 
of COAs only within the municipalities where they have been 
established, we were left with 1,269 police-involved deaths across  
80 police agencies from 2000 through 2014.


All demographic variables for census years were obtained from U.S. 
census reports or the American Community Survey,12 while values 
for intercensal years were obtained through linear interpolation. We 
also used municipality-level violent crime rates for each jurisdiction 
from the Uniform Crime Reports as a covariate. These time-varying 
covariates were used because, in prior research, socioeconomic variables 
have been found in prior research to be correlated with policing tactics 
as well as social disorder and crime (Zhao, He, and Lovrich 2006; 
Zhao, Ren, and Lovrich 2012). We included an indicator variable 
for any municipality under federal investigation or bound by an 
agreement to reform policing practices vis-à-vis use of force or racial 
profiling (e.g., through a consent decree, settlement agreement, or 
memorandum of agreement), which could reduce racial disparity by 
itself. Finally, in the model for racial disparity in PHCs, we included 
racial disparity in DCAs as a baseline measure of bias in policing.


Results
Model estimates for racial disparity in DCAs and PHCs are shown 
in table 3 and table 4, respectively. In each case, we started with 
a basic model containing a creation indicator that switches from 
0 to 1 from the year the COA came into existence. In subsequent 
models, we substituted the creation indicator, sequentially adding 
factor scores for the scope of authority, followed by indicators for 
teeth-voice interaction and governance. In the final model, which 
is the preferred specification, we added covariates to determine 
whether the observed effects changed after controlling for 
background characteristics.


Racial Disparity in Disorderly Conduct Arrests
Table 3 presents model estimates for the impact of COAs on racial 
disparity in disorderly conduct arrest rates.


Starting with model 1, in which we estimate the overall impact of 
COA creation on the dependent variable, we find that the created 
coefficient is negative but insignificant. The age coefficient shows 
a significant negative impact on racial disparity in DCAs over 
time. The latter effect generally persists for all types of COAs vis-
à-vis DCAs in models 1–6 and suggests that all types of COAs, 
regardless of their individual characteristics, decrease racial disparity 
in DCAs over time. This implies the time-intensive nature of social 
accountability mechanisms.


In addition, the scope of authority coefficients for investigative 
COAs are consistently negative across models 1–6, and their impact 
attains statistical significance in model 5 (p = .049). In model 6, the 
investigation score coefficient has a sizeable magnitude of −121.80 
(relative to the average pre-treatment disparity in DCAs of 487.5 
per 100,000 adults); however, it is not significant at the 5 percent 
level (p = .082). The interaction coefficient for investigation score 
and age is positive (βInvestigation score × Age = 7.07,p = .039), which seems 
to partially offset the main effect of age (βAge =  − 20.67,p = .024).13 
Nevertheless, we believe these results suggest that investigative 
COAs lead to a reduction in racial disparity in DCAs over time, and 
potentially in the year of creation as well.


The coefficient for monitoring COAs fluctuates between negative 
and positive values and does not approach statistical significance. 
However, its interaction with the age coefficient is negative and 
significant (p = .049), which suggests that monitoring COAs reduce 
disparity in DCAs over time. Finally, neither the review/audit score 
coefficient nor its interaction with the age coefficient is significant 
in the preferred specification. Thus, review/audit COAs do not 
appear to have a differential effect on the disparity in DCAs beyond 
the main effect of age. This result makes sense as review/audit COAs 
have the least authority among the three types of COAs.


Reviewing the teeth-voice interaction terms, as well as their 
interactions with age, we can see that while they are all negative in 


Table 3  Racial Disparity in Disorderly Conduct Arrest Rates – Model Estimates


Racial Disparity in Disorderly Conduct Arrest Rates


Independent Variables (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)


Created −64.04
Age −16.41** −14.76 −15.68* −16.24* −18.80** −20.67**
Scope of Authority
  Investigation score −124.48^ −104.37^ −101.52^ −150.28** −121.80*
  Audit-Investigation score 11.62 12.07 −5.12 37.46 89.14
  Review-Audit score 54.88 58.90 66.14 88.36 −25.73
  Investigation score × Age 6.12** 7.07**
  Audit/Investigation score × Age −5.69^ −6.30**
  Review-Audit × Age −3.49 4.90^
Teeth-Voice Interaction Terms
  Teeth Level-I Dummy × Voice 30.72 34.43 43.22 −1.24
  Teeth Level-II Dummy × Voice 19.5 22.84 24.15 −11.41
Voice
  Number of Civil Rights Organizations −37.72 −41.21 −41.72 −2.46
Governance
  By-district governance −171.67* −164.86* −200.28**
All Other Covariates Included No No No No No Yes
Year and Jurisdiction-specific Fixed Effects Included Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Standard Errors clustered at Jurisdition level Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Observations 3,226 2,949 2,949 2,949 2,949 2,770
BIC 49,650.1 45,455.98 45,468.69 45,468.75 45,475.65 42,444.13


^p < .15; *p < .1; **p < .05; ***p < .01.
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the preferred specification, none approaches statistical significance, 
which shows that there is little evidence from our study that 
mutually reinforcing teeth and voice, in and of themselves, reduce 
disparity in DCAs.14 The main effect of voice in models 1–6 also 
does not attain statistical significance, however, it is consistently 
negative per our expectation.


The governance indicator is highly negative and significant in the 
preferred specification.15


Racial Disparity in Police Homicides of Citizens
Table 4 presents model estimates for the impact of COAs on racial 
disparity in PHCs.


Model 1B estimates the impact of COA creation on racial disparity 
in PHCs. Neither the creation coefficient (p = .472) nor the age 
coefficient (p = .582) approaches significance. However, like the model 
for racial disparity in DCAs, the creation coefficient is negative.


Regarding the scope of authority coefficients in models 1B–6B, we 
note that the investigation and monitoring score coefficients are 
consistently negative. The interaction of these coefficients with the 
age coefficient is also consistently negative, with the coefficient for 
the interaction between investigation score and age negative and 
significant (p = .037), which suggests that investigative COAs reduce 
disparity in PHCs by about 6 percent per year. On the other hand, 
neither the review/audit coefficient nor its interaction with age is 
significant. Thus, it appears that investigative COAs are more likely 
to reduce disparity in PHCs, relative to the two other types of COAs.


None of the teeth-voice interaction terms, the main effect of 
voice, or the governance indicator is significant in the preferred 


specification. However, it bears mentioning that the coefficient 
for voice was negative and approached significance in models 
4B (p = .054) and 5B (p = .082). In supplementary analyses, we 
also estimated separate models for the impact of COAs on police 
homicide rate of blacks, police homicides rate of whites, and 
the combined police homicide rate of blacks and whites. Results 
from the latter model show that investigative COAs are the only 
COAs associated with some reduction (3 percent, p = .093) in the 
combined police homicide rate of blacks and whites.16


Discussion
We found that all COAs, regardless of type, reduce racial disparity 
in DCAs by around 20.7 arrests per 100,000 adults per year 
(showing support for hypotheses 1 and 2). On the other hand, the 
impact of COAs on PHCs varies by the type of COA. Investigative 
COAs reduce racial disparity in PHCs by around 6 percent per 
year, while neither monitoring nor review/audit COAs reduce racial 
disparity in PHCs, indicating a lack of support for hypothesis 4. 
Thus, it seems that less aggressive forms of oversight are sufficient 
to reduce the racial disparity in high-discretion enforcement actions 
such DCAs. However, more aggressive forms of oversight are needed 
to reduce racial disparities in enforcement actions such as PHCs, 
where institutions afford officer low discretion and the citizen-police 
encounters pose danger.


Regarding the teeth-voice interaction and their interaction terms 
with age, neither has an impact on the disparity in DCAs or 
PHCs, which leads us to find lack of support for hypotheses 5 and 
6. However, we do not believe that the above results necessarily 
suggest that teeth are useless with regard to deterring racial disparity 
in DCAs or PHCs. Rather, we believe that teeth are likely to be 
effective when part of a larger repertoire of authorities. Indeed, 


Table 4   Racial Disparity in Police Homicides of Citizens per 100,000 persons – Model Estimates


Racial Disparity in Police Homicides of Citizens per 100,000 persons


Independent Variables (1B) (2B) (3B) (4B) (5B) (6B)


Created −.52


Age .03 .02 .02 −.03 −.01 −.03


Scope of Authority


  Investigation score −.49 −.66^ −.69 −.57 −.37


  Monitoring score −.40 −.69^ −.61^ −.57^ −.99^


  Review/Audit score −.03 .04 .20 .21 .71


  Investigation score × Age −.06*** −.06**


  Monitoring score × Age −.03^ −.03


  Review/Audit × Age −.02 −.04


Teeth-Voice Interaction Terms


  Teeth Level-I Dummy × Voice .13 .29* .26^ .40^


  Teeth Level-II Dummy × Voice .18** .25** .26** .29


Voice


  Number of Civil Rights Organizations −.17^ −.28* −.25* −.17


Governance


  By-district governance dummy variable −1.83* −1.76^ −1.16


All Other Covariates Included No No No No No Yes


Year and Jurisdiction-specific Fixed Effects Included Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes


Standard Errors clustered at Jurisdition level Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes


Observations 1,110 895 895 895 895 671


BIC 2,966.63 2,116.34 2,128.14 2,100.37 2,105.91 1,666.33


^p < .15; *p < .1; **p < .05; ***p < .01.
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while conducting the factor analysis procedure (see appendix B), 
we found that the authority to recommend discipline heavily loads 
onto the factor for investigative agencies, while the authority to 
evaluate and recommend policy changes heavily loads onto the 
factor for monitoring agencies. However, we intentionally did not 
include these authorities in predicting the scope of authority factors 
because doing so would have led to collinearity with the teeth-voice 
interaction, whose net impact we wanted to test separately. Thus, 
while the above results suggest that while agency teeth, in and of 
themselves, may not be enough to reduce disparity in DCAs or 
PHCs, we believe they are likely to be important components in the 
overall authority of COAs.


Hypotheses 7 and 8 posited that COAs that report to a board whose 
members are appointed by the municipal district would reduce 
disparity in DCAs and PHCs, respectively, relative to COAs that 
either do not have a board or have a board whose members are not 
appointed by the municipal district. We reasoned that COAs whose 
members are appointed by a district would be more likely to project 
the concerns of minority citizens. By-district representation on the 
COA board was found to reduce racial disparity in DCAs as well 
as PHCs; however, only the reduction in the disparity in DCAs 
is statistically significant (p = .047). Specifically, we found that 
by-district COA governance reduces the racial disparity in disorderly 
conduct arrests by around 41 percent (200.28/487.5) relative to 
the average pre-treatment disparity in such arrests. It is worth 
noting that the governance indicator is negative in every model 
for both dependent variables, even though each dependent variable 
was obtained from different data sources. This suggests that the 
governance of COAs has major implications in terms of reducing 
racial disparity in policing outcomes, even if we did not obtain 
statistically significant results.


Finally, hypothesis 9 posited that COAs would be more likely to 
reduce disparity in DCAs relative to PHCs, as DCAs afford officers 
relatively broader discretion. While we did not test this hypothesis 
directly, we believe that two findings lend support to it. First, a 
reduction in the racial disparity of DCAs was observed for each 
additional year of a COA’s existence, regardless of the type of COA 
that was in place (i.e., 20.7 fewer DCA arrests per 100,000 adults 
per year). On the other hand, only investigative COAs reduced 
racial disparity in PHCs (by 6 percent per year) for each additional 
year of existence of the COA. This finding shows that the impact of 
COAs on the racial disparity in DCAs are much more broad-based 
than the impact on racial disparity in PHCs.


Second, the impact of COAs on racial disparity in DCAs was also 
more sizable than the impact of COAs on the racial disparity in 


PHCs. Specifically, racial disparity in DCAs decreased by 41 percent 
when the COA was led by a board with members appointed by 
the municipal district. By contrast, COA governance by municipal 
district did not have any impact on the racial disparity in PHCs. In 
fact, only the investigative form of COAs reduced racial disparity in 
PHCs, although it was by a notable 6 percent per year. In sum, the 
broad-based impact of COAs on racial disparity in DCAs, as well 
as the difference in the scale of impact of COAs on DCAs vis-à-vis 
PHCs lends credence to the hypothesis that institutional outcomes 
are more likely to change when institutions afford bureaucrats broad 
discretion.


Another issue deserves elaboration. Since investigative COAs were 
found to reduce disparity in DCAs as well as PHCs, it is important 
to highlight the characteristics of the agencies in this category. A 
factor analysis conducted to determine the various types of COAs 
in the sample is helpful in this regard (see appendix B). Per this 
analysis, authorities that loaded heavily onto the investigation score 
factor included the authority to classify the nature of a citizen-
initiated complaint, conduct investigations of citizen complaints 
independent of the police agency, recommend/issue investigation 
findings to the police, recommend discipline to officers it found 
guilty of misconduct, and have paid full-time staff.


There were 16 COAs in our sample which had all the 
aforementioned authorities. These agencies had a median 2016 
budget of $999,420 and a median full-time staff of nine, compared 
with a median budget of $112,500 and a median full-time staff of 
four for the sample overall. Thus, it appears that the most effective 
COAs not only have a broad scope of authority, but they were also 
likely to have more resources to perform their role relative to the 
overall sample of COAs.


Table 5 summarizes the impacts that COAs were observed to have.


Our study raises a question about the desirability of discretion. On the 
one hand, scholars have contended that the exercise of discretion not 
only is an unavoidable element of street-level decision-making (Lipsky 
1980) but also enables bureaucrats to treat people as people, allowing 
them to tailor their decisions to clients’ circumstances, motives, intent, 
and promises (Cordner and Scott 2014). However, several studies 
(including this one) have found that the greater the discretionary 
authority that street-level bureaucrats have, the greater the likelihood 
for bias to permeate their decisions (Cárdenas and Ramírez de la Cruz 
2017; Lipsky 1980; Maynard-Moody and Musheno 2012). Does this 
finding suggest that discretionary authority ultimately undermines 
social equity and that public managers ought to design jobs to reduce 
discretion as much as possible?


Table 5   Summary of COA Impacts on Racial Disparity in Disorderly Conduct Arrests and Police Homicides of Citizens


Dependent Variable


Reduces dacial disparity in DCA? Reduces racial disparity in PHC?


Scope of Authority Investigation-focused Yes, over time. Potentially in the year of creation as well. Yes, over time


Monitoring-focused Yes, over time No


Review/Audit-focused Yes, over time No


Teeth-Voice Interaction Level-I teeth × Voice No No


Level-II teeth × Voice No No


Governance By municipal district Yes No


 15406210, 2019, 3, D
ow


nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w


iley.com
/doi/10.1111/puar.13055 by U


niversity O
f W


isconsin, W
iley O


nline L
ibrary on [29/08/2024]. See the T


erm
s and C


onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w
iley.com


/term
s-and-conditions) on W


iley O
nline L


ibrary for rules of use; O
A


 articles are governed by the applicable C
reative C


om
m


ons L
icense







Social Accountability and Institutional Change: The Case of Citizen Oversight of Police  423


We do not believe that to be the case. As Skolnick pointed out in 
his 1966 classic Justice without Trial, increased discretion does not 
necessarily lead to more bias. Rather, bias is likely to be evinced 
when officers perceive an encounter with a citizen to be dangerous, 
when some degree of coercion is likely to be involved, and when the 
officer does not believe that the suspect is likely to ultimately face 
some measure of “justice” without the officer exercising discretion 
in this particular case. In light of Skolnick’s insight, it is possible 
that our finding that investigative COAs reduce the racial disparity 
in PHCs merely reflects the fact that COAs induce police officers to 
use their discretionary authority in a more restrained way, rather than 
reducing their discretion. This study’s findings should thus not be 
interpreted as suggesting that reducing police officers’ discretion is 
necessarily a desirable end goal.


The unique contribution of this study is threefold. The issues of 
whether (1) COAs impact policing outcomes and (2) such impacts 
vary by type of COA are long-standing concerns in the literature on 
citizen oversight of police (see De Angelis, Rosenthal, and Buchner 
2016; Walker 2006; Walker and Archbold 2014). Our study not 
only responds in the affirmative to both these questions from the 
prior literature but also (3) theoretically extends the state-of-the-art 
of social accountability impact evaluation research by combining the 
social accountability framework (Fox 2015) from the development 
studies literature and the gradual change framework from political 
science (Mahoney and Thelen 2010; Rocco and Thurston 2014). 
Thus, our approach not only bridges two literatures that have 
at times been disconnected from each other but also offers a 
considerable advantage in terms of parsimony in terms of the 
variables. Moreover, combining the social accountability framework 
with the gradual change framework allows us to test a broader 
range of hypotheses than would be possible using just one of these 
frameworks. We encourage scholars of social accountability and 
social change to explore other literatures that could be integrated 
with the gradual change and social accountability frameworks (e.g., 
social movement theory; see Schneiberg and Lounsbury 2017).


That COAs with a broad scope of authority lead to reductions in 
racial disparity of DCAs and PHCs supports contentions in the 
prior literature that external triggers for social equity can enhance 
the ability of public organizations to treat clients in an equitable 
manner (Gooden 2014) and that street-level bureaucrats are less 
likely to treat clients differentially if it is likely that they will incur 
major costs for doing so (Lipsky 1980). Our study builds on the 
foregoing scholarship by finding that all external triggers for social 
equity are not created equally—COAs with a relatively broader 
scope of authority are likely to be more effective at reducing 
racial disparity in PHCs relative to those with a narrow scope of 
authority. Furthermore, we found that by-district COA governance 
reduces racial disparity in DCAs, which shows that institutional 
rules for stakeholder engagement in participatory processes affect 
stakeholders’ influence on policy outcomes. This result adds to 
the prior finding in the literature that stakeholder engagement in 
participatory processes enhances stakeholder influence on policy 
decisions (Baldwin 2019).


Our study also challenges the narrative of the “punctuated 
equilibrium” model of change that has traditionally been embraced 
in rational choice, sociological, and historical-institutionalist 


accounts of institutional change. These paradigms typically stress 
the importance of the stability of institutions and situate the sources 
of institutional change in exogenous forces (DiMaggio and Powell 
1983; Hannan and Freeman 1989; Thelen and Conran 2016). 
According to these accounts, when substantive organizational 
change does occur, it is likely to be “episodic and dramatic, 
responding to institutional change at the macrolevel” (DiMaggio 
and Powell 1991, 11).


However, recent scholarship in the historical-institutionalist 
tradition has increasingly focused on institutions as distributional 
instruments laden with power imbalances, which leads to 
contestation or uncertainty regarding the implementation and 
meaning of institutional rules, and hence compliance with them 
(Thelen and Conran 2016). Under this view, institutions and, 
hence institutional outcomes, may change gradually as institutions 
undergo piecemeal modification or reinterpretation. Moreover, 
because of variations in the sociopolitical context and the discretion 
afforded by existing institutions, organizational change may 
not necessarily be “isomorphic” as contended in sociological 
institutional accounts (DiMaggio and Powell 1983; Dobbin 1994; 
Scott 1995).


While we did not trace the historical evolution of specific 
institutions in individual cases in this article, the pattern of findings 
that we uncover lends credence to the historical-institutionalist 
perspective on gradual institutional change. First, we found that in 
both low-discretion enforcement work (PHCs) as well as high-
discretion enforcement (DCAs), at least part of the change in 
outcomes occurs gradually and over time rather than abruptly. This 
was evidenced by the gradual reduction in the racial disparity in 
DCAs for COAs of all types, as well as the gradual reduction in the 
racial disparity of PHCs for investigative COAs. Second, consistent 
with the gradual change framework, changes in institutional 
outcomes appear to be a function of both the sociopolitical context 
(operationalized here as the scope of COA authority), as well as the 
degree of discretion afforded by existing institutions. Specifically, 
racial disparities in DCA narrow regardless of whether the scope of 
COA authority is broad or narrow—that is, change through either 
conversion or layering is plausible (see Rocco and Thurston 2014; 
Thelen and Conran 2016). On the other hand, racial disparities in 
PHCs narrowed when the scope of COA authority was broad—
that is, outcomes are plausibly changed through displacement of 
institutions. We did not observe an increase in racial disparities in 
PHCs when the COAs’ scope of authority was narrow, suggesting a 
relatively low likelihood of institutional change through drift. The 
implication is that the type of institutional change plausibly varies 
depending on the scope of COA authority, as well as the discretion 
afforded by the institutions. Nevertheless, it bears emphasizing 
that the foregoing types of institutional changes are based on our 
broad-brush impressions, and as noted later, we encourage scholars 
to investigate the specific patterns of institutional change occurring 
in response to COAs through single-subject case studies.


Finally, this study broadens the typical focus of social accountability 
impact evaluations from developing countries to developed 
countries. We believe that social accountability mechanisms may 
also be a viable mechanism for institutional change in developed 
countries, where accountability deficits rooted in historic political 
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struggles are also likely to exist and whose symptoms are increasingly 
evident (e.g., the emergence of the Black Lives Matter movement) 
in an era of increasing political and economic inequality. We 
hope that broadening the scope of social accountability studies 
to developed countries prompts deeper reflection in the public 
administration field on the historical-institutional reasons as to why 
accountability deficits exist in the governance of essential public 
services, the long-term impacts of such deficits on social equity, 
as well as the development of conceptual frameworks and theories 
about how such deficits can be narrowed.


There are certain limitations of this study that ought to be 
acknowledged. First, we assumed that COAs’ authority remain 
constant over time. This assumption is needed in a fixed-effects 
model to rule out the presence of time-varying factors that may be 
confounded with the treatment. We verified this assumption by 
determining, for a random sample of COAs, whether their authority 
had changed since their inception by searching newspaper archives 
on Lexis-Nexis. While we did not find any newspaper reports of 
changes in the powers of the COAs in our sample, it is possible that 
some changes were not reported in the press, which might have 
biased the treatment effect.


Second, as alluded to earlier, while the results of this study suggest 
that institutional outcomes changed as a result of the creation of 
COAs, we cannot pinpoint the exact type of institutional change 
that is likely to have occurred. We believe that a deeper qualitative 
study at the individual COA level would be needed to determine 
the specific change process that occurred in a city. Future research 
should attempt to open the black box of the institutional change 
process through which policy interventions such as COAs can 
enhance the social equity of police services.


Conclusion
We started this study by asking whether COAs have an impact on 
racial disparity in policing outcomes and whether their outcomes 
vary by the kind of oversight that the COA conducts. A major 
weakness of prior studies that have considered these questions is 
that they have been largely atheoretical and thus have not yielded 
clear predictions of whether COAs are likely to be effective and the 
circumstances under which they are likely to be effective. Other 
weaknesses of prior evaluations include the fact that they have 
almost never considered racial disparities in policing outcomes as 
dependent variables and have almost exclusively been restricted 
to case studies of individual jurisdictions. Such case studies, while 
illuminating, have not provided generalizable insights about when 
COAs are likely to be effective.


Our analyses show that COAs reduce racial disparities in policing 
outcomes over time when the enforcement action affords officers 
broad discretion. Moreover, this effect seems to be a function of a 
COA being present, rather than a specific kind of COA. However, 
COAs with a broad scope of authority are more likely (compared 
with COAs with a narrow scope of authority) to reduce the racial 
disparity in policing outcomes when the enforcement action affords 
narrow discretion and likely arises from dangerous citizen-police 
encounters. The results also suggest that the institutional rules by 
which oversight agencies are governed (i.e., by the municipal district 
or at-large) can also have an impact on racial disparity, at least for 


enforcement actions that afford officers broad discretion, and which 
do not involve dangerous citizen-police encounters.


Our results thus indicate that public administrators should consider 
whether certain police enforcement actions in their municipality 
are associated with racial disparities that disproportionately affect 
blacks. If blacks are only overrepresented in arrests for “quality-
of-life” offenses such as disorderly conduct, and if the local 
government is unable to commit to the resource outlays that 
investigative COAs entail, then public administrators may consider 
establishing a review-focused COA. On the other hand, if blacks 
are overrepresented in PHCs (or PHCs as well as DCAs), then the 
public administrators should consider establishing an investigative 
COA—one with a substantial scope of authority, budgetary 
authority, and the appropriate quality and quantity of human 
resources. Underpowered COAs that are essentially intended to 
serve as window dressing may not necessarily have any impact on 
more serious forms of police violence that disproportionately affects 
blacks.


Taken together, these findings suggest that robust citizen 
oversight is likely an effective approach to enhance equity in 
service provision contexts that have a history of institutional 
racism and that also have the potential for inflicting direct 
physical harm. We believe this is true for policing—indeed, no 
other public service has the authority to use deadly force against 
citizens on behalf of the state.


COAs seek to deter police misconduct through a variety of means, 
such as controlling police discretion through recommending policy 
changes, evaluating individual complaint investigations as well as 
broader patterns in misconduct, and by recommending discipline 
for officers found guilty of misconduct. Therefore, they aim to 
alter the incentives of police by generating extrinsic and intrinsic 
motivators that encourage equitable treatment of citizens. We urge 
scholars in public administration and cognate fields to conduct 
further research into how social accountability mechanisms promote 
social equity, the obstacles that hinder them, and how they can be 
made more effective.


Notes
1.	 The gradual change framework has also been referred to as the theory of gradual 


institutional change (Mahoney and Thelen 2010).
2.	 The vast majority of oversight agencies in the United States are at the municipal 


level, followed by COAs at the county level and COAs in universities and transit 
systems.


3.	 This is an estimated count based on corroboration with other researchers, the 
National Association for Citizen Oversight of Law Enforcement, and internet 
searches conducted by the authors. Nonetheless, it is possible that the actual 
number of COAs is higher, as there might be certain COAs that are not known 
to the sources we consulted or that had no presence on the internet.


4.	 Misconduct is defined as “any alleged improper or illegal act, omission or 
decision” by a police officer that directly affects the person or property of an 
individual by reason of a violation of the police agency’s policy, or any local, state 
or federal law (Worden 2004).


5.	 A copy of the survey instrument is available from the authors upon request.
6.	 Our formulation of the types of change under various combinations of veto 


points and degrees of discretion are slightly different from those originally 
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proposed by Mahoney and Thelen (2010), and more in line with the more 
recent study by Rocco and Thurston (2014).


7.	 Disorderly conduct is defined by the Federal Bureau of Investigation on its 
Uniform Crime Reporting website as “any behavior that tends to disturb the 
public peace or decorum, scandalize the community, or shock the public sense of 
morality.”


8.	 We use data from 1980 onward because the Uniform Crime Reporting city-level 
arrest data prior to 1980 tend to fluctuate significantly, raising concerns about 
incorrect reporting and/or measurement error.


9.	 The survey was created and administered using the Qualtrics software.
10.	 Separate and individual surveys were sent to jurisdictions in which the board and 


the COA are separate entities.
11.	 Names of the municipalities whose COAs responded to our survey have been 


kept confidential in accordance with Institutional Review Board requirements.
12.	 The 1980, 1990, 2000, and 2010 values of these variables were obtained from 


U.S. census reports, while the values for 2015 were obtained from the American 
Community Survey five-year estimates.


13.	 A test of significance comparing the βInvestigation score × Age (=7.07) and βAge(= − 20.67) 
coefficients shows that the latter is statistically larger than the former (p = .0930). 
This shows that the βInvestigation score × Age coefficient only partially offsets the βAge 
coefficient.


14.	 In an alternative specification, we use the percentage of a municipality’s 
population that is black as a measure of voice. The interaction of teeth with this 
alternative measure of voice had a similar impact on the dependent variable.


15.	 We also estimated the impact of COAs on DCA rates of blacks and whites 
separately. Those results were not included in the article to conserve space; they 
are available from the first author upon request.


16.	 Estimates for these models were not included in the article to conserve space; 
they are available from the first author upon request.
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Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

From: Amy Miller
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Office of the Independent Monitor and Police Civilian Oversight Board
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 2:46:22 PM

You don't often get email from ajmille2@uwalumni.com. Learn why this is important

Dear Members of the Finance Committee, 
 
I am writing to request that, no matter what happens with the
referendum, you safeguard and maintain the already small budget of
the Police and Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB) and Office of the
Independent Monitor (OIM). 
Studies have clearly shown that the presence of a civilian police
oversight agency with a broad scope of authority (investigative
authority, etc.), as in Madison, reduces racial disparities in
disorderly conduct arrests rates (i.e., a type of arrest for which
officers have considerable discretion) and racial disparities in police
killings of civilians.

OIR, the firm that did a top-to-bottom review of MPD, made
creation of a civilian police monitor and oversight board a
cornerstone of their recommendations, with one of the oversight
entities' most critical roles being "Ensuring that the adopted findings
and recommendations of the current review process be implemented
and sustained." As the MPD Policy & Procedure Review Ad Hoc
Committee report states: "the Committee believes that creating an
independent monitor and civilian review body is so critical, both in
its own right and to ensure successful implementation of all of the
other recommendations the Committee is making, that we have
moved this up as our first recommendation, and we pulled it out and
forwarded it separately to the Common Council and Mayor".  Only a
small fraction of those recommendations have been enacted so far,
and this won't change without the ongoing analysis and advocacy of
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the OIM and PCOB.

 Since they were created in 2020, during a pandemic, the PCOB and
OIM have spent only $411,000. With that relatively small
expenditure and meeting only one time a month, there have been
major accomplishments, even if there were at times growing pains in
booting up this whole new city department.
• An Independent Monitor was finally hired after twice recruiting
nationally. 
• A program manager was hired and is now engaged in outreach to
community organizations and the community at large. 
• A data analyst was chosen and was in the process of being hired
until the Mayor ordered city staff not to permit the individual to be
hired. 
• A detailed data analysis plan was developed, focusing on racial
disparities in policing outcomes, data-driven identification of
officers at risk of misconduct or other adverse outcomes, and
detection and disruption of networks of officer misconduct. 
• A process was developed for handling and investigating
complaints filed against MPD.
• A physical complaint form had recently been completed. 
• A memorandum of understanding was negotiated with MPD, for
data and records access. 
• Extensive training had been obtained from the National
Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement (NACOLE)
and the Civilian Office of Police Accountability in Chicago,
including on complaint investigation. 
• The OIM and members of the PCOB have attended NACOLE
conferences and networked with members of civilian police
oversight bodies in cities across the U.S.
• Policies were crafted to govern the functioning of the PCOB and a
subcommittee structure developed, for efficient completion of tasks. 
• Community listening sessions were held in neighborhoods across
Madison, resulting in a report summarizing insights and emergent
themes arising from a wide variety of powerful first-hand accounts



of encounters with law enforcement officers voiced by the civilians
that experienced them. And the list of achievements goes on.
 
This is only phase one of the OIM and PCOB and, without a doubt,
there have been missteps and a learning curve. For example, the city
only followed through on giving the OIM an office last Thursday.
But what new department doesn’t have problems? Why is this group
being unfairly targeted when they are doing what no other city has
done in this state and accomplished a significant number of their
promises in the first term? 
 
The PCOB and OIM have completed phase one of building out the
department, procedures and processes. Much has been learned along
the way. Let them open shop, fully funded and with the assistance
they need to function properly. To cut funding or positions in the
department now or to take away their independence would set the
department on a course of guaranteed failure and that isn’t fair to
Madison residents who deserve an accessible and independent
process to seek accountability when they feel they’ve been wronged
by their police department. 
 
Please vote to fully restore the funding and positions of the OIM and
PCOB.
 
Sincerely, 
Amy Miller



Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

From: Bonnie Roe
To: Finance Committee; Tishler, Bill; All Alders
Subject: OIM and PCOB
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 4:30:22 PM

Dear Alders,

I am writing in response to the push by some public commenters at Monday’s Finance
Committee meeting to restore full funding to the Office of the Independent Monitor (OIM)
and Police Civilian Oversight Board (PCOB). 

I am not opposed to police oversight, in fact I think it’s important. But this group has nothing
to show for all the money that has been spent. Four years later, there is still no process by
which to submit a complaint. Not one single complaint has been submitted, and zero
investigations have taken place. Ironically the first complaint the Board got to deal with was
the Chair of the Committee having an ethics complaint filed against her for abusing her
power. Apparently she got a 90-day extension on her term anyway.

Many meetings, both full board meetings and subcommittee meetings, were canceled due
to lack of quorum.

Despite many members timing out on Sept. 30, they had no replacements selected to take
their places.

The organizations slated with nominating candidates didn’t nominate candidates.

A member serving as Alternate was never able to become a voting member due to there
always being a shortage of Board members. The Alternate (who actually showed up to the
meetings) didn’t get a vote, but she was needed to make quorum. 

As one who has attended nearly every meeting and subcommittee meeting, I can tell you
that the meetings reminded me of the movie Groundhog Day. It was basically a recap of the
same agenda as the week, or month, before. Why? Because little to no progress had been
made from the meeting before. 

As I said, police oversight is very important to me. But so is fiscal responsibility, especially
in times of a major structural deficit like we have now. When the Board shirks its statutory
duties over and over (lack of complaint process, no timely reviews of the Police Chief and
Independent Monitor) and cannot appropriately staff the Board despite being the only Board
to award stipends, it’s time to reallocate these funds.

I am in favor of cutting the entire OIM and PCOB and possibly trying again in the future,
with a process that is not made to fail and at a time when the City’s budget can afford it.
Until that time, we have plenty of oversight between the Police and Fire Commission,
MPD’s Office of Professional Standards and Internal Affairs, the Public Safety Review
Committee, the Mayor, and members of the Common Council.
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Thank you,

Bonnie Roe
District 11
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From: TNW Ensemble Theater
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Opposed to Cuts for NewBridge
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 1:44:54 PM

You don't often get email from info@tnwensembletheater.org. Learn why this is important

TNW Ensemble Theater opposes any funding cuts to NewBridge at Oct. 14 Meeting.

TNW Ensemble Theater
1957 Winnebago Street
Madison, Wisconsin 53704
www.tnwensembletheater.org
info@tnwensembletheater.org
608.244.2938
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From: Stephanie Rearick
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Please protect funding for PCOB and OIM
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 12:46:13 PM

[You don't often get email from steph@stephanierearick.com. Learn why this is important at
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification ]

Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

Dear members of the Finance Committee,

I'm writing to request that you make a strong defense of continuing full funding for Madison's Police Civilian
Oversight Board and Office of the Independent Monitor.

As you know, these ordinances were long fought for and hard-won, coming on the heels of too many police
shootings of civilians. They are ground-breaking and should serve as a model for other cities around the US.

We are fortunate to have had no police shooting of unarmed civilians since the funding of these bodies. I appreciate
the role of Chief Shon Barnes in overseeing positive changes in MPD. And the point of an institutionalized body
such as the PCOB is to ensure that we as a community can help steer policing toward healthier practices no matter
who we have as chief.

Please help to ensure that these bodies are funded and given all the support they need to develop into their full
potential, creating a healthier and more public-safety focused relationship between police and the civilians they
serve and protect.

Please vote for a budget amendment that fully restores the funding and positions of the OIM and PCOB.

Thank you for your consideration,

Stephanie Rearick
1340 E. Wilson St.
Madison WI 53703

—

Stephanie Rearick
steph@stephanierearick.com
+1 (608) 443-8229
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From: Ruth Sybers
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Police over site
Date: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 10:41:58 AM

[You don't often get email from knitterstreat@wekz.net. Learn why this is important at
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification ]

Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

Please get rid of police over site committee - too expensive for no or low production.

Not all ideas prove to be as valuable as imagined!

Ruth Sybers
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Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

From: Erin Fabrizius
To: Finance Committee
Subject: Public Comment on Proposed 2025 Budget--Older Adult Services Budget
Date: Monday, October 14, 2024 5:13:22 PM

You don't often get email from efabrizius@gmail.com. Learn why this is important

Good Evening, 

Thank you for the opportunity to speak before you tonight. A written version of my remarks
can be found here:

Thank you for the opportunity to speak before you on the proposed 2025 Executive
Operating Budget. 

My name is Erin Fabrizius, I am a board member for NewBridge Madison, and I am
here to ask that you increase the older adult services budget in 2025. It is clear that
the funding provided in 2024 was insufficient to meet the needs of our community as
NewBridge is being cut by 44%. 

NewBridge was formed as the result of a merger from the four Madison Senior
Coalitions in 2019. While we are new in name, we have a 50-year track record of
successfully providing older adults with the services they need to live independently.
We  serve 3,500 low-income older adults in Madison, 30% of whom are from BIPOC
communities, across 15 of Madison’s 18 zip codes. 

NewBridge’s budget is being cut by 44% in order to provide 8 new organizations with
older adult services funding. I support these new organizations receiving funding as 1
in 4 Dane County Older Adults will be 60+ by 2040. However, I question the decision
to add 8 new organizations to this already-underfunded older adult services budget
without adding more to the pot and instead drastically cutting a proven organization. 

As the mayor noted, this issue is currently before the Committee on Aging. Additional
funding is needed in 2025 to ensure that existing and new providers are appropriately
funded. It appears an additional $500,000 is needed based on the requests from
2024 that were either not funded or reduced. This represents 0.11% of the proposed
$431.7 million City budget, which appears to include $26 million in new expenditures. 

To put the impact of the shortfall into real terms, if the current proposed cut to
NewBridge is approved,

33 older adults will lose access to volunteer guardians who are trained by
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NewBridge. These guardians assist older adults with critical medical and
financial decisions.

80-100 older adults will be waiting for case management support related to
housing/homelessness, food insecurity, transportation, and benefits assistance.

The 8-12 week home chore waiting list of 50 older adults will grow.

Budget’s are about priorities. I believe the funds are there to fix the older adult
services budget in 2025, if it is a priority for the City.

-- 
Erin Fabrizius



Caution: This email was sent from an external source. Avoid unknown links and attachments.

From: Nicholas Davies
To: Finance Committee
Cc: Martinez-Rutherford, Dina Nina
Subject: Restore preemptive OIM cuts
Date: Sunday, October 13, 2024 11:16:35 AM

Dear Finance Committee,

I urge you to restore two minor items in the 2025 budget for the Office of the Independent
Monitor. 

* $50k available for legal representation for those bringing a case before the Police and Fire
Commission. We cannot know what 2025 will look like, in terms of police misconduct, and
whether victims will pursue recourse. But if they do, they deserve professional representation,
even if they don't have the means to retain a lawyer of their own.

* $38k for PCOB stipends. This helps cover costs like childcare for members of the oversight
board, and makes participation in the board viable for those who would be otherwise
financially excluded. As it is, PCOB members are performing a community service, not
getting rich off this position. But if a position on the PCOB comes with no stipend, the
makeup of the board may shift towards those with enough means and privilege to give their
time away freely. Thus this stipend is important to making the board's composition equitable.

These are such small items in the grand scheme of the city budget, and even with them
restored, the 2025 OIM budget will be significantly lower than what was requested. 

These are the kinds of cuts I know we may end up having to make if the referendum fails to
pass. But if the referendum fails, the OIM will then be starting a 5% cut from an already
austere budget.

The executive budget also cuts a Data Analyst position; if this position is going to be left open,
then I understand the logic of reflecting that in the budget. But I also wonder if the OIM could
indeed be more effective with a data analyst.

Thank you,

Nick Davies
3717 Richard St
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